

Journal of Membrane Science & Research



journal homepage: www.msrjournal.com

**Research Paper** 

Surface Modification and Integration of Organic/Inorganic Additives Into The Matrix of The Membrane: The Governing Interaction Mechanisms of Dye Adsorption on Adsorptive Membranes

Felicia Akinnike Akinyemi<sup>1</sup>, Oluranti Agboola<sup>1,\*</sup>, Olagoke Oladokun<sup>1</sup>, Edith E. Alagbe<sup>1</sup>, Rotimi Sadiku<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Chemical Engineering, Covenant University, Ota, Nigeria

<sup>2</sup> Department of Chemical, Metallurgical and Materials Engineering, Tshwane University of Technology, South Africa



## Abstract

The contamination of water from dye industries is considered one of the most global urgent concerns as it compromises the esthetic feature of water bodies, inhibits plant growth, and might stimulate toxicity and carcinogenicity. Adsorptive membranes are highly viewed as one of the prospective technologies that have demonstrated competency in wastewater treatment due to their capacity to make wastewater clean enough for reuse. The adsorption mechanism that lies between adsorptive membranes and dye molecules depends on the individual properties and characteristics. Novel hybrid composite membranes with organic/inorganic additives have been considered for adsorptive membranes as they are expected to advance the effectual removal of dyes from wastewater. The impact of organic/inorganic additives on hybrid adsorptive membranes is highlighted based on the bulk polymer properties like mechanical and chemical resistance together with the structural configurations of the membrane. As such, it is important to understand the interaction mechanisms between adsorptive membranes together with the modified adsorptive membranes. Despite the fact that adsorptive membranes possess outstanding effectiveness and capability in wastewater treatment for reuse which provides them a great chance to be employed as prospective technologies for dye adsorptive membranes are still racked with some drawbacks. Hence, we present different modification methods used in combating these drawbacks which will subsequently improve the performance of adsorptive membranes.

© 2024 FIMTEC & MPRL. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

. Introduction	2
2. Governing interaction mechanisms: The role of membrane as adsorbent	2
3. Adsorptive membranes-based separation mechanism as prospective technology	3
4. Types of adsorptive membranes.	5
4.1. Electrospinning nanofiber membranes (ENMs)	5
4.2. Biomaterials-based membranes.	5
4.3. Inorganic membranes	6
4.4. Nano-enhanced membranes	6
4.5. Drawbacks of adsorptive membranes	6
5. Modifications of adsorptive membranes	6
5.1. Conductive Polymers	6
5.2. Use of polymer blends	8
5.3. Use of nanoparticles and nanomaterials	8
5.4 Surface modifications	9
5. Proposed future direction of adsorptive membranes	11
7. Finding's summary and conclusion	11
7.1 The finding's summary	11
7.2. Conclusion	11

## 1. Introduction

Numerous sorts of toxic dyes, like basic dyes, acid dyes, and azo dyes originated from different manufacturing sources, and end users are tracked down to the inland surface water [1]. Dye-polluted water discharge into the water bodies, mostly from food processing, textile, leather, cosmetic industries, etc., causes great damage to humans, lives under the water, and the environment as a whole. Hence, they linger in the milieu for an elongated span of time, thereby dropping the appealing worth of water bodies [2]. Due to the negative impact of dye-polluted water, several technological methods have been employed to eliminate these toxic dyes before discharging the wastewater into other water bodies such as streams and rivers. Techniques such as coagulation/flocculation [3,4], oxidation [5], advanced oxidation process [6], ozonization technique [7], use of Fenton's reagent [8,9], adsorption process with activated carbon, [10-13], adsorption process with membrane [14-16], etc. Among all these dye treatment methods, the adsorption process using adsorptive membranes is worth mentioning due to their unique properties. The unique properties that make adsorptive membranes outstanding are low functioning costs, simplicity, reliability, high separation efficiency, and their environmentally friendly nature than conventional water treatment technologies [17].

Adsorption on adsorptive membrane is the buildup of adsorbates at an interface sandwiched between the surface of the membrane [18]. Adsorption at an interface takes place in the course of interactions with the substrate, devoid of forming covalent bonds when instituted by solute molecules. Adsorption on membranes could ensue from a liquid phase or gas phase. The key parameters that control the process are respectively, the concentration of solution, pollutant interactions [19], or partial pressure. However, the temperature has an imperative role in governing the adsorptive membrane filtration process on the account of average kinetic energy of the molecules and their frequency of collision resulting in the surface upsurge with the temperature [20]. Hence the extent of adsorption on adsorptive membranes is dependent on the under-listed factors.

- (i) The chemical nature of the adsorbent and the adsorbate. The reason that adsorption ensues from an adhesive process is that, where there is interaction between two types of molecules, the nature of these molecules will ascertain their attractive interactions [21].
- (ii) Parameters such as acidity, color, pH temperature, etc., of the system, have an influence on the extent of adsorption on adsorptive membranes, and for the ionic dyes, the exclusion of charge together with size exclusion parameters have an imperative role to play in stabilizing the retention because it is hinged on the size of the dye and membrane pore size [22, 23].
- (iii) The upsurge in the temperature leads to greater kinetic energy, subsequently, the faster the movement and diffusion of dye molecules. This will increase the flux [24].
- (iv) A high concentration of dye has the potential to reduce the potential of membranes owing to either their buildup on the membrane surface with time or owing to their amassment within the pores, triggering the tightening of the membrane pores [23].

With the grasp knowledge of the factors that influence the extent of adsorption on adsorptive membranes, there is a need to look into the governing interaction mechanisms of dye adsorption on the adsorptive membranes and the modification of adsorptive membranes. Hence, it is the objective of this review to present insights into the governing interaction mechanisms between dye and adsorptive membrane in the membrane separation process. In addition, the novelty of this review aimed to outline the drawbacks of adsorptive membranes and present different types of adsorptive membranes and modification processes for future direction.

# 2. Governing interaction mechanisms: The role of the membrane as adsorbent

Synthetic dyes are characterized as a reasonably large group of organic chemical compounds with multiple aromatic rings. Synthetic dyes are classified into cationic (malachite green and methylene blue [24-26]) and anionic dyes (Congo red and tartrazine [27]). It is very important to carefully classify dyes as it will enable a precise section of a positively charged adsorptive membrane for effectual removal of negatively charged dyes on account of different governing interactions [27]. Additionally, the efficiency of dye removal is mainly influenced by chemical and physical factors such as the electrostatic interactions between dye and membranes [28, 29], the pore size of the membrane [30], temperature [31], solution pH [32] and dyesubstrate contact time [30]. As a result of opposite surface charges, an electrostatic attraction takes place amid the dye and the surface of the adsorbent [26]. Electrostatic interaction primarily speaks of the electrostatic attraction in the midst of positively charged/negatively charged membranes and negatively charged/positively charged dyes, connected to the characteristics of membranes and dyes; and is expressively influenced by the solution's pH [33, 34]. Additionally, dye molecules possess amino, hydroxyl, and sulfonic groups, as groups of atoms taking the place of another atom or group, bonded to the aromatic rings. These functional groups can interact with the membrane of the same functional groups such as carboxyl, amino, and amide [35-38]. Hence, the adsorption mechanism could revolve around numerous interactions like electrostatic, hydrophobic, and hydrogen bonds [26]. All these mechanisms could consequently impact the rate of membrane performance.

The functional group interactions as one of the mechanisms are dependent on the solution pH. Hence, the pH exerts an effect on the membrane surface charge and governs the filtration process. Therefore, membrane surface charge governs the rejection of dyes. Most polymeric membranes evince a negative charge in an extensive range of feed water pH which allows to preferably repel anionic dyes. It is imperative to note that anionic and acidic comprise functional groups that possess a negative charge and these dyes are repelled by the negatively charged polymeric membranes in an extensive range of feed water pH. However, membrane charge can be altered with a suitable surface modification to favor the rejection of specific dyes. Additionally, the zeta potential is also influenced by the pH of feed water. Hence, the zeta potential is contingent on the properties of the liquid phase and the surface of the membrane sample.

Zeta potential is accountable for the electrostatic interaction mechanisms present between the material surface and dye solution. The electrical interaction is a very imperative mechanism between polymeric membranes and dye molecules, especially at the interface of the membrane surface. Furthermore, it is imperative to take cognizance that these interactions are connected with electrical dipole or "double stratum" charge configurations at the nanoscale [39]. Additionally, the zeta potential is employed as an indicator for membrane surface charge. Having a good knowledge of the zeta potential can assist in correlating surface charge to membrane performance and to have a good comprehension of controlling membrane fouling [40]. Studies have shown that to accurately attain zeta potentials, and especially at the isoelectric point; it is imperative to measure the streaming potential on the membrane [41].

At its isoelectric point, the membranes are most expected to possess basic groups and non-ionized acids; otherwise, the absorption of anionic dyes will be less. However the literature has shown that experiments done close to the isoelectric point (pH 6-6.5) [35, 37] resulted in the reduced location of electrostatic forces, and subsequently, other kinds of forces can ensue. Examples of such forces are those responsible for the aggregation of dye (e.g., van der Waals forces, found in dye AO7 adsorption on the membrane), which subsequently improve the efficiency of the adsorption process. Additionally, aggregation upsurges with the concentration of dye and ionic strength [38, 42]. The upsurge in NaCl concentration can stimulate dye molecule adsorption onto the polymeric membrane surface via hydrophobic interactions. Besides, the hydrophobic interactions amid immobilized dye molecules have the capacity to become strong. This is confirmed in the study by Çimen and Yılmaz [43], where the inclusion of salt in a dye solution triggered the heaping of the free dye molecules. Hence, the ionic strength can influence the electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions. Furthermore, investigations have been extensively carried out on dye removal and it was noticed that the magnitude of dye uptake was intensely subjected to the concentration and nature of the electrolyte ionic species in the dye bath [44]. Additionally, studies have shown that the ionic strength could influence the hydrophobic interactions in the course of dye adsorption. For example, at constant pH, an upsurge in ionic strength will upsurge the membrane surface group; however, hydrophobicity will upsurge with the decrease in pH [45]. It has also been found that an upsurge in ionic strength led to a decline in the electrical double-layer thickness of the membrane. This characteristic interprets that H<sup>+</sup> or OH<sup>-</sup> concentrations at the surface are nearer to the ones in the bulk. Therefore, for material such as inorganic membranes, at constant pH, the upsurge in ionic strength will result in the ionization of the surface groups [46]. Therefore, the mechanisms through which dye-induced permeability changes are dependent on dye concentration, membrane surfacecharge density, dye structure, and ionic strength [47].

The mechanism of dye adsorption can also be understood from the effect of porosity; which is influenced by specific surface area, micropores, and mesopores volume together with the surface chemistry [48]. Hence, porous materials as emergent high-efficiency adsorbents have recently attracted growing attention, as a result of large specific surface area, favorable adsorption capacity to dyes, and fast adsorption rate. Samad et al. [49] examined how heat treatment impacted porous glass microspheres synthesized through an innovative flame spheroidization process for the removal of dye. Their study depicted that the microspheres attained higher dye adsorption efficiency. In addition, the removal of dye was attained through hydrogen bonding, electrostatic interaction, and Lewis acid-base interaction, devoid of functionalization (external or internal) of the microspheres. Fu et al. [50] synthesized a sequence of inventive imidazoliumbased cationic organic polymers having diverse ionic capacities and porosity of organic dye adsorption. The synergistic effect between ionic capacities and inherent porosity was confirmed and it was further observed that electrostatic interactions that occur between charges and dyes controlled the removal efficacy. Lakshmi et al. [51] investigated the performance of dye adsorption 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate loaded polyethersulfone (PES) polymer inclusion membranes (PIMs). The study arraigned hydrophilic porous PIMs under a well-ordered structure and their performance was examined for dye removal. The PES membranes exhibited high porosity in the span of 79% to 86%. The addition of 2wt% of Poly-Nvinyl pyrrolidone resulted in an upsurge in pore size and the permeability of water. Gorgieva et al. [52] fabricated and evaluated water-stable membranes using carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) as an ionic adsorbent and cellulose nanofibrils (CNFs) as the stabilizing and citric acid (CA) as structural filler for cationic dyes removal. The resultant, membranes demonstrated anisotropic to isotropic characteristics that are extremely greater than 90% porous structures having pore sizes ranging from a couple of nm to 200 µm. These characteristics subsequently afford reasonably high and stable flux rates in the range of 150-190 L/m<sup>2</sup> h MPa, having close to cationic dye adsorption of 100%, and adsorption capacity in the range of 1828-1398 g/kg.

# 3. Adsorptive membranes-based separation mechanism as a prospective technology

Adsorptive membranes are highly known to be one of the prospective technologies that have demonstrated efficacy and competency in wastewater treatment for reuse. They are capable of eliminating diverse kinds of emergent contaminants from wastewater that cannot be eliminated by using conventional approaches [53]. Adsorptive membranes possess the same capability of adsorption as adsorbents due to their porosity; hence, they are also regarded as membrane-based adsorbents [54, 55]. Usually, substances that possess adsorption capacity comprise hydroxyl, carboxyl, and sulfonic groups. For example, chitosan can be directly employed as a material of an adsorptive membrane because it contains amino and hydroxyl groups [54, 56]. Hence, adsorptive membranes are considered porous membranes because they externally and internally have functional groups that can bind with dyes by surface complexation mechanism [57].

The adsorption of adsorptive membranes is considered a pressure-driven dynamic membrane filtration-adsorption process because it makes use of the benefits of the adsorption process and membrane separation process [58, 59]. These membranes are described via their strong affinity for ions and molecules, by way of combining ions through ion exchange, chelation bonding, and complexion [55]. Over and above, the high surface area and idleness of the sites of adsorption are significant elements responsible for the efficacy of adsorption for contaminants elimination from wastewater. This membrane technology is essentially governed by three ideologies: adsorption, sieving, and electrostatic phenomenon [53]. In this separation process, the substances separated such as dye are adsorbed on the surface of the membranes, and the solvent infiltrates across membranes' pores (see Fig. 1) [60, 61], with the demonstration of upsurge flow rates, high permeability, low operating pressure, little inner diffusion resistance, swift adsorption/desorption efficiencies together with different adsorption mechanisms. [62, 63].



Fig. 1. Separation process of adsorptive membranes (Ref. [55]; with permission from Elsevier to reuse).

Usually, the mechanism of adsorption with regards to the membrane is dependent on rejection and adsorption [64], the hydrophobic interactions of the adsorbent and the adsorbate [65]. Once the solutes (dye molecules) in the wastewater move to the spry functioning stratum of the membrane, the solutes with sizes larger than the membrane's pore are rejected by the membrane. The solutes with reduced sizes will be transported across the active stratum of the membrane and get to the support stratum which functions as an adsorbent; hence the mechanism of the combination of territorial binding and site binding [66]. Subsequently, there will be a reaction/attachment between the membrane and the solute to build a constricted interior spherical complex and then bring out a permeate of sieved water from the membrane [67]. However, the efficacy erasure of dye from wastewater is reliant on surface interactions that exist between the adsorbate and adsorbent governed by the functional groups on the surface of the adsorbent.

The surface interaction characteristics function serves as an essential operating task responsible for the determination of the capability, efficacy, selectivity, and reusability of the adsorbent [68]. Therefore, the mechanisms of adsorptive membranes specifically ensued from membrane-solute interactions such as covalent interaction [69], ionic interaction [69], cation –  $\pi$  interaction [70],  $\pi$ – $\pi$  interactions, electrostatic interactions and exclusion [71], electrostatic interactions and complexation [72], ion exchange and complexation [55, 61, 73], electro-viscous effects [74], hydrophobic binding for counter-ion binding with immobile charges on polymer chains [66, 75], hydrogen bonding [69] and van der Waals forces [72] to attain highly discerning and swift separation of small organic molecules, such as dye molecules.

Another important factor that will govern the mechanism of adsorptive membranes for dye adsorption is the membrane configuration and its porous nature. Membrane configuration is interrelated to the geometry of the

membrane and its location in space relative to the flow of the feed fluid and of the permeate [76]. The coordination of geometry permits a direct interaction of the cation with the quadrupole moment of the adsorptive membrane [77, 78]. Adsorptive membranes are porous and they possess functional groups on their exterior and interior surfaces. These functional groups have the capability of binding with dye molecules via an ion exchange mechanism [79]. Such a mechanism arises on the provision that the adsorbent has energetic locations with free electrons after an electrostatic interaction is present amid the adsorbent and the substance ensues [80]. Barredo-Damas et al. [14] evaluated the operational efficiency of tubular ultrafiltration membranes for treating textile mill raw effluent under diverse working conditions. The flux was increased with an upsurge in pressure which was further enhanced at the least tested pH value. In addition, the upsurge in pressure resulted in the rejection of constricted particles on the membrane. This outcome was boosted via the minor electrostatic repulsive forces. Babu and Murthy [15] employed poly PES/PVA (Polyvinyl alcohol) nanofiltration membranes for the treatment of textile dye wastewater. Outstanding flux was attained with the membrane that contained 1 wt% PVA and an outstanding dye rejection was attained for dispersed dyes. Cao et al. [16] tailored two different membranes for an active elimination of dye intermediates in multifaceted dye wastewater. The two membranes attained a considerable extended stability and over 95% rejection of RB-5 dye was also attained. Ağtas et al. [24] evaluated the influence of membrane properties on membrane efficiency by employing a comprehensive analysis and concluded that the main significant parameter for the removal of dye was the zeta potential. Cseri et al. [79], proposed a single-step preparation of electro-spun nano-fibrous porous polyimides improved with ion exchange characteristics as adsorptive membranes for the adsorption of dye from textile wastewater. The proposed method offers a novel means for the transformation of carboxylic acid groups in polymers to be similar to the functionalities of anion and cation exchange. The ionic sites, together with the carboxylic groups were anticipated to result in an upsurge of robust interactions present between the polymer and ionic organic compounds, like dyes. It was suggested from the results obtained that nano-fibrous polyimide membranes boosted with ion exchange characteristics are auspicious adsorption membranes for the removal of dye from wastewater. Fig. 2 represents all the governing interaction mechanisms for the adsorption dye discussed in this section.



Fig. 2. Representation of all the governing interaction mechanisms for adsorptive membrane dye removal

Literature has established that functional groups on the outward and the interior surface of the adsorbent are principally used to control adsorption because they govern the mechanism together with the selectivity. Sulfonic, carboxyl and phosphonic groups adsorb contaminants through ion exchange, while nitrogen groups such as amine cations and anionic adsorb through electrostatic interactions [81]. Studies have shown that amine groups are more effective for the adsorption of dyes [82]. The utilization of these kinds of membranes for the adsorption of dyes has been lengthily studied and investigated for governing interaction mechanisms. Cheng et al. [83] synthesized deacetylated cellulose acetate (DA)@polydopamine (PDA) composite nanofiber membrane and systematically studied the mechanism of

adsorption for the adsorption of methylene blue. The authors construed that the adsorption mechanism of the synthesized material was ascribed to the following points: (1) In the course of the process of adsorption, a huge quantity of phenolic O-H on the surface of the membrane was negatively charged; hence, the membrane can be utilized as effectual adsorbing sites for cationic dye on the account of the build-up of electrostatic interactions that occur between the membrane and dye molecules. (2)  $\pi - \pi$  stacking interactions ensued amid the membrane and the dye molecules because they both accommodated ample aromatic rings, which was established by the alteration of the peak at 1630 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Vo et al. [84] provided a perception of adsorption mechanisms by employing a graphene oxide-chitosan interactive membrane for the erasure of several organic dyes from wastewater based on the study of adsorption isotherm and kinetic studies. An outstanding operational effectiveness of the membrane was attained for the elimination of dyes. Furthermore, the adsorptive membrane displayed an excellent recycling performance. Additionally, the dye adsorption and desorption capacities were considerably improved on account of the connecting bond creations and interactions that occur between the surface of the graphene oxide and the active hybrid network via functional groups. Zhao et al. [85] developed adsorptive membranes bv employing polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF), chitosan (CS), and carboxylated carbon nanotubes (CNTs-COOH) (PVDF-CS@CNTs-COOH) and investigated if these membranes can afford to successfully remove anionic and cationic dye from wastewater, effectively. The membranes are highly performed concerning the rejection of the dyes. Furthermore, a reasonable efficiency in recycling, with a flux above 94% was attained. The summary of some of the interactions is shown in Fig. 3 using a Congo dye molecular structure.



Fig. 3. Graphical demonstration of governing interaction

Additionally, a composite membrane could be utilized as an extremely functional adsorbent for dyes from wastewater owing to the benefits of nanometer scale, high porosity, and excellent hydrophilicity [83]. Lie et al. [86] examined the mechanism and practicability of prepared modified fiber adsorbents using waste Polyacrylonitrile fiber (PANAMF) to remove anionic dyes. The fiber adsorbents exhibited excellent adsorption performance. The mechanism of adsorption studied shows that the adsorption was instigated primarily via the electrostatic force. The dye continually diffuses from the exterior to the interior and; hence swiftly adheres to the adsorption site. Dispersing force, hydrogen bonding, and van der Waals force still pointed out that the dye diffused into the fiber, even when the adsorption site was filled. The dye in the interior stratum of the fiber possesses the capacity to slacken the polymer chain which upsurges the diffusion rate. A graphical demonstration that depicts the process of diffusion even when the adsorption site was occupied is depicted in Fig. 4. Shin et al. [87] studied the separation performance of synthesized nanocomposite membrane for the erasure of Evans blue (EB) dye, and the same functional membrane was subsequently used for treating aqueous solutions having different anionic dyes. The adsorption mechanism was elucidated through the electrostatic interaction between chitosan and dye. All this literature depicted that the removal of dye by adsorptive membranes ensued as a result of the chemical interactions involving the functional group and electron transfer between the membranes and dye molecules. In addition, the sulfate group attraction in dye molecules also had a strong impact on the adsorption of dye molecules. Liu et al. [88] developed a diethanolamine (DEA) - ---modified polyamide composite membrane for effective dye elimination. The integration of DEA molecules on the membrane led to a substantial enhancement of membrane hydrophilicity. This can successfully improve the hydrophobic interactions taking place between dye molecules and membrane surface in return; hence extenuating the adsorption of dye molecules on the membrane. Alardhi et al.

[89] studied the appropriateness of the hybrid MCM41-UF membrane for the removal of dye. The interaction that exists between dye and the adsorptive membrane turned out to be better specifically as the roughness upsurges on the surface where the porous structure characteristics accelerated the spread of adsorbed dye.



Fig. 4. Graphical demonstration of the process of diffusion even when the adsorption site is occupied.

## 4. Types of adsorptive membranes

Theoretically, adsorption is considered a transfer movement of substances from the flowing fluid phase to the surface of the material via physical and/or chemical interactions [90]; hence, the supreme advantage of adsorptive membranes over other technology such as the utilization of adsorbent made from activated carbon. Thus, adsorptive membranes possess a twofold function filtration and adsorption [81]. There are different kinds of adsorptive membranes. These membranes are categorized based on the type of membranes and adsorbents incorporated into the membranes during synthesis. A schematic representation of adsorptive membranes that could be used for treating dye wastewater is shown in Fig. 5. These membranes follow the same pattern of operation. They are hinged on the process of mass transfer where pollutants will be adsorbed on the membranes.



Fig. 5. Classification of adsorptive membranes concerning membrane materials and adsorbents

## 4.1. Electrospinning nanofiber membranes (ENMs)

Electrospun nanofiber membranes (EMN) are adsorptive membranes that possess an excellent catalyst-supporting material as a result of their benefits (manageable distribution of pore size, large specific surface area, and the volume of the pore, together with insignificant mass transfer resistance in the inner part of the nanofibers) [91]. They possess the capacity to homogenously integrate functional particles in the fiber matrices. They are employed to make fibrous membranes that are of nano and sub-micron diameters [92]. The mechanism of ENM adsorption on dyes could be electrostatic attraction or chelation, which offers outstanding filtration and adsorption ability dyes, and it gives room for improving the capacity of adsorption of ENMs for dyes, via the upsurge of chelation sites [93]. Furthermore, they possess a great number of adsorption sites which subsequently results in an outstanding adsorption capacity; which makes them excellent materials for the elimination of dyes

from wastewater. Quite a number of natural and synthetic polymers that could be transformed into electrospun nanofibers are in abundance. This is attained through the process of liquefying these polymers in proper solvents and then spinning them. Concerning their mechanism, electrostatic attraction exists between the anionic dye molecules and the positively charged nanofiber [93]. Moreover, many forms of membrane composites which are also considered polymer membranes comprising diverse structural configurations of nanofibers, such as nanofiltration, ultrafiltration, microfiltration, etc., have been employed for the erasure of dyes in wastewater. Hence, scientists have synthesized ENMs for the erasure of dyes from wastewater with excellent results.

Akduman et al. [94] synthesized nanofiber membranes via the electrospinning method and the membranes possessed exceptional properties like high porosity with controlled pores. The nanofiber membranes demonstrated outstanding potential for the erasure of dye having an excellent sorption capacity of 88.31 mg/g. Ma et al. [95] synthesized a membrane by employing poly(vinylidene fluoride) (PVDF)/graphene oxide (GO) for the erasure of organic dye. The electrospun PVDF fibrous membrane depicted an excellent performance which may be ascribed to the pseudo second-order model with the methylene blue erasure having an excellent adsorption capacity of  $621.1 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$ . Additionally, the membrane demonstrated outstanding regeneration capability. Chen et al. [96] synthesized a proteinfunctionalized nanofiber membrane for the erasure of dyes. The potential of the nanofiber membrane for the erasure of dyes was assessed. At the end of five successive adsorption-desorption cycles, the effectiveness of dye erasure utilizing this nanofiber membrane was sustained beyond 97%. Sun et al. [97] designed leaf-like metal-organic frameworks (MOF)-decorated electrospun nanofiber membrane (using polyacrylonitrile nanofibers (NF) and zeolitic imidazolate framework (ZIF)) for the erasure of dye from aqueous solutions. The synthesized membrane effectively adsorbed malachite green having an excellent adsorption capacity of 5103 mg g<sup>-1</sup>. Nady et al. [98] conveyed the utilization of waste obtained from polystyrene for the synthesis of an electrospun membrane for the erasure of dye from wastewater. The membrane exhibited an excellent dve uptake with excellent regeneration efficiency.

All the excellent work in the literature has made known that, the high adsorption capacity of membranes prepared from nanofiber ensued on account of the manageable distribution of pore size, large specific surface area, and the volume of pore. Hence, nanofibers could be regarded as an innovative group of materials that can provide substantial benefits for applications in removing contaminants such as dye from wastewater [93]. Polymeric nanofiber membranes attained from the electrospinning process have been instituted and established as ecologically and sustainable friendly potential material for the removal of dye from contaminated water. The treated dye wastewater can be subsequently re-claimed in the dyeing process; hence, combating water scarceness as it is not being passed out into the milieu [93].

## 4.2. Biomaterials based membranes

The utilization of biological materials in adsorptive membranes is wellthought-out to be a recent technology with favorable results from the literature on account of their excellent antifouling property, high permeability, and mechanical reinforcement effect [53]. Recently, there an intensifying need for biopolymers, which are made from renewable source materials; they are economical, and biodegradable without any environmental problems such as toxicity. Membrane-based biomaterials could be attained with varied properties on account of the operational functions to be performed. These membranes are characterized by being porous or dense, hydrophobic or hydrophilic, synthetic or natural, biodegradable or not biodegradable, and stiff or elastic [99]. Biomaterials-based membranes make better filters for the treatment of contaminated water than traditional petrochemical membranes [100]. Hence, the use of biomaterials has been more successful concerning membrane filtration possessing excellent water flux and effective decontamination and decoloring of dyes in wastewater. Dassanayake et al. [101] synthesized manganese dioxide (MnO<sub>2</sub>)-chitin-hybrid material for the erasure of methylene blue (MB) from the liquid solution. The hybrid material displayed excellent effectiveness for oxidative decolorization and effective erasure of MB. The hybrid bio-membrane showed outstanding recyclability and sturdiness having 99% degradation for methylene blue at the end of ten successive cycles. Song et al. [102] synthesized an innovative phosphorylated chitosan (PCS) membrane by using surface functionalization with a suitable quantity of graphene oxide (GO) nanosheets via the formation of covalent bonds. The membrane showed a little higher efficiency for the erasure of anionic dyes and significantly superior efficiency for the erasure of salt. Hasanuddin et al. [103] synthesized Poly(Lactic Acid) - poly(ethylene glycol) with magnesium silicate (PLA- PEG/ MgSiO<sub>3</sub>) to access its dual performance as a filter and adsorbent for the erasure of methylene blue dye. The membrane had 86.36% removal activity of MB dye and established the reusable character of about six cycles. These studies have shown that biomaterialbased membranes are green adsorbates and on account of their cost effectiveness, biodegradability, and easy access. Biomaterials, especially biopolymer membranes, are synthesized from renewable sources that serve as alternative membrane materials to conventional polymers used in synthesizing membranes. More published works on adsorptive membranes and their functions are tabulated in Table 1.

## 4.3. Inorganic membranes

Inorganic membranes are prepared from oxides or metals, and they can be present in multi-stratum supporting structures, or in the form of selfsupporting structures, where they can be made as tubes or standalone sheets, should they be sufficiently permeable. Should that fail to be the situation, they can be synthesized as thin films on multi-stratum with structural supports. The structural supports need to be adequately sturdy and permeable. There is need for a step-wise or graded alterations in porosity to make a well-ordered deposition surface for the membrane [104]. However, the utilization of supports such as inorganic membranes for adsorptive membranes, is restricted on account of the expensive cost of production [55]. Though when likened to membranes made from polymeric materials, inorganic membranes can be more selective and permeable, and they can tolerate highly extreme conditions [104]. Inorganic adsorptive membranes are frequently synthesized through coating and deposition of adsorbents on the inorganic support [55]. In addition, the utilization of inorganic solid particles is considered to be the common technique to make membrane pores. However, their drawback is that the dispersion of these solid particles in the course of membrane synthesis would result in creating an asymmetric pore configuration of the prepared membranes. Thus, to circumvent such shortcomings, the viscosity of the casting solution must be carefully guided to control it via polymer concentration to deter or delay the dispersion of these particles [90]. On account of their adequate sturdiness, high resistance, permeability, and ability to function at extreme temperatures and broad pH, researchers have used membrane composites made of inorganic materials to treat wastewater.

Hebbar et al [105] synthesized polyetherimide nanocomposite membranes with amine-functionalized halloysite nanotubes (MHNTs) for the potential erasure of dye from effluents. By adding inorganic additives or fillers into the casting solution, the morphological configuration, porosity, and hydrophilicity were significantly changed. Their study depicted that the addition of additives into the casting solution exhibited a significant alteration in the effectiveness of the subsequent membrane. The permeation experiments depicted that the flux was enhanced to approximately 195 L/m<sup>2</sup>h with the inclusion of 4 wt% additive dosage. The membrane demonstrated rejection of 97% at pH 8 and 94% at pH 7 for methylene blue and rhodamine B dyes. Shin et al. [86] synthesized organic-inorganic composite membranes for the erasure of anionic dye from wastewater. The membrane depicted an excellent erasure capacity for Evans blue (EB) and the adsorption capacity was considerably improved to about 434.78 mg/g under acidic circumstances. Alarcón et al. [106] evaluated inorganic membranes for the treatment of textile wastewater at optimized conditions. Using optimized circumstances, over 92% of the dye was attained in less than 30 min. It can be observed that membrane composites made of inorganic materials demonstrated a stimulating case of adsorptive membranes.

It is imperative to take into consideration that the utilization of organicinorganic materials for the synthesis of membranes for the erasure of dye from wastewater is very attractive. This is because the membrane obtained from these two materials will offer the likelihood of attaining coadjutant effects on the mechanical and thermal stability which will subsequently have an impact on membrane permeability and selectivity. More published works on adsorptive membranes concerning organic-inorganic membranes and their functions are shown in Table 1.

#### 4.4. Nano-enhanced membranes

The distinctive structural configuration and surface properties of nanomaterials (such as carbonaceous materials, nano-metal or nano-metal oxides, etc.) is the enablement of the materials to be employed as adsorbents [90]. Carbonaceous materials (like active carbon (AC), carbon nanotubes (CNTs), and graphene) are well recognized as prospective equivalents to polymer-based composites on account of their excellent mechanical strength, high aspect ratio, compatibility of the carbon matrix with the polymeric structure, and sturdy interactions and adhesion [90]. Nano-enhanced adsorptive membrane is synthesized by dispersing nano-sized adsorbents like metal oxides and zeolites etc., all through the continuous polymeric matrix [107]. Nano-enhanced membranes - adsorptive membranes are usually synthesized by dispersing nano-adsorbent into a polymeric solution before casting and subsequently evaporating the solvent within a well-monitored

circumstance [108]. Manoukian et al. [109] synthesized polysulfone-highly even activated carbon sphere mixed-matrix membrane for the removal of dye from wastewater. The study demonstrated enhanced water flux and rejection efficacy of 99.9% was attained, which was attributed to size exclusion and adsorption mechanisms. Kalaivizhi et al. [110] examined the degradation of dye by using synthesized polysulfone (PSF) and polyurethane (PU) membranes blended with AC and green synthesis of ZnO nanoparticles. The synthesized membrane could be utilized as a substrate for dye erasure. Essate et al. [111] synthesized an ultrafiltration composite membrane using a mixture of PSF and polystyrene (PS) on ceramic pozzolan support. The study proved that the inclusion of PS considerably improves the rejection of the membrane.

#### 4.5. Drawbacks of adsorptive membranes

Membrane separation techniques are well-thought-out to be the outstanding technological separation technique employed for combating the challenges encountered by other techniques used for treating dye wastewater. As a result of their effectiveness and capability in wastewater treatment for reuse, adsorptive membranes are very much considered among the prospective technologies used for the adsorption of dyes. Be it as it may, adsorptive membranes are still racked with some drawbacks, like the moderately low adsorption capacity resulting from the inadequate quantity of the adsorbents that are integrated into the membrane matrix. In addition, the issue of fouling and agglomeration are other drawbacks that the membrane industry is experiencing [81]. Furthermore, the trade-off that exists between nanometer-level selectivity and permeability is another intrinsic drawback of membrane technology and most extremely porous materials that offer excellent adsorption capacity come short of the processability of solution and steadiness for attaining adsorption-based molecule separation [59]. Researchers are recently focusing on the modification of membranes to improve dye rejection capacity, reduce the rate of fouling, and overcome other drawbacks, which will subsequently aid in the treatment of textile wastewater in an economical manner. The modification methods that will aid in improving the performance of adsorptive membranes are the employment of conductive polymers, employment of polymer blends [126], use of various additives, such as water-soluble materials [127], nanoparticles, and nanomaterials [128, 129], and surface modification such as free radical graft copolymerization [130].

#### 5. Modifications of adsorptive membranes

This section will discuss different types of modification processes for the enhancement of adsorptive membranes. These modifications will combat the drawbacks of adsorptive membranes.

## 5.1. Conductive Polymers

In order to overcome these drawbacks, an effective polymeric membrane material and the appropriate integrated adsorbent must be wisely chosen. Due to the outstanding properties of conductive polymers (polyaniline, polypyrrole, and polythiophene) that prevail over traditional membrane materials, conductive polymers should be considered for synthesizing adsorptive membranes. Properties such as ease of functionalization, mechanical stability, chemical versatility, easy synthesis, high electrical conductivity, and environmental sustainability make conductive polymers are incapable of being dissolved in aqueous media. It is documented in the literature that the decrease in the optical absorption showing the reduction of the concentration of dye ensued when conductive polymers are included in a solution of an organic dye [131], due to conjugated  $\pi$ -bonds and the exceptional optical, electrical, and physical properties.

The interactions the exit between the dyes and conductive polymers aid the removal of dye from wastewater [131, 132]. The mechanism was founded on dye adsorption or its photocatalytic decomposition, or both could at the same time ensue or in sequence in several proportions [133]. Hence, the interaction emanated on account of physical van der Waals forces or accredited to physicochemical interactions. According to Stejskal [131], one likely interaction that exists between conductive polymers and dyes is the  $\pi$ - $\pi$ interaction. Again, the electrostatic interactions should be taken into consideration should an insoluble salt be produced from a soluble anionic dye with the conducting polymers. The presence of hydrogen bonding of the atoms of hydrogen in conducting polymers in relation to the nitrogen atoms present in dyes conversely could most likely be one of the strongest interactions that can be accounted for [133]. Mohammad and Atassi [134] reported the synthesis of membranes from polyacrylonitrile (PAN), polylactic acid, and their conforming membranes coated with polyaniline (PANI) for the erasure of MB. The membranes coated with PANI exhibited improved adsorption effectiveness and their DC- conductivities were interrelated to methylene blue concentration. The polyaniline-coated membrane stimulated electrostatic interactions that exist between the adsorbent and the adsorbate.

The interaction mechanism using the conductive polymers for the synthesis of adsorptive membranes for dye erasure is based on the fact that conductive polymers interact with dyes on account of the similarity that the membranes and dye possess in the associated molecular arrangement and layout of their moieties [131]. Furthermore, the interaction mechanism is the

adsorbent-adsorbate interactions together with the ionic bonding [135]. In addition, the mechanism is also hinged on hydrogen bonding,  $\pi$ - $\pi$  interactions, and/or hydrophobic interactions between the adsorbent and the dye. The improvement of the interaction of the mechanism can be attained by making the conductive membrane highly porous through the use of pore enhancers; such as integrating inorganic porous materials into the conductive polymeric membranes.

## Table 1

Different types of adsorptive membranes have, a range of performances for the erasure of dye from wastewater

Types of adsorptive membranes	Materials	Method of synthesis	Types of dye removed	Performance parameters	References
Electrospun nanofiber membrane	Functionalized PAN nanofiber membrane with chitosan and proteins	PAN yarn was electrospinning into nanofibers	Anionic dye and cationic dye	After five successive adsorption- desorption cycles, the efficacy of dye erasure was sustained beyond 97%.	[94]
Nano-enhanced membrane	Introduction of ZIF-8 into PSF and CS blend	Phase inversion process	Rhodamine Blue (Rh. B), MB, Acid Blue (AB) and Congo Red (CR)	The efficacy of dye erasure was sustained beyond 85% for all the dyes.	[112]
Nano-enhanced membrane	Activated carbon/ZnO nanoparticles integrated into a PSF/PU membrane	The phase inversion method	CR and MB	The membrane attains 97% erasure within 100 min.	[110]
Nano-enhanced membrane	Integration of iron in titanium oxide nanotubes and integration of silver titanium oxide nanotubes are inserted in the PES matrix	The casting solution method	Rhodamine B dye	97% maximum efficiency removal of rhodamine B was attained.	[72]
Inorganic membrane	2-chloro-1-methyliodopyridine served as an energetic agent for grafting polyimide polymer onto the membrane	Covalent bonding with surface carboxylic groups.	Tropaeolin O, Victoria blue B, and Semixylenol orange	Displayed an excellent erasure efficacy of 98.3%, 99.2%, and 99% respectively for Tropaeolin O, Victoria blue B, and Semixylenol orange.	[113]
Nano-enhanced membrane	Covalent functionalized graphene oxide sheets added to magnetic nanoparticles were incorporated into PES	Phase inversion induced via immersion precipitation method.	-	The hybrid membrane attained about the same percentage of rejection (99%) while the ordinary PES membrane attained 91% rejection.	[114]
Electrospun nanofiber membrane	Poly (arylene ether nitrile) (PEN) nanofibrous substrate used in conjunction with bioinspired polydopamine coated GO barrier stratum	Electrospinning technique	Anionic dyes	An outstanding flux of 99.7 L/m2 h at the operating condition of 0.1 MPa, 25 °C, and pH=3.0, and an outstanding rejection of 99.8% was exhibited.	[115]
Nano-enhanced membrane	Chemically modified halloysite nanotubes uniformly integrated into polyetherimide membrane	Diffusion-induced phase inversion (DIPS) means	Cationic dye	There was an exhibited rejection of 94% at pH 7 and 97% at pH 8.	[105]
Organic-inorganic membrane	Chitosan (CS) and porous geopolymer (PG)	Electrostatic self-assembly method.	Crystal violet (CV)	The erasure efficacy of CV by the PG membrane was just 68.54. However, CS/PG displayed an excellent and steady erasure efficacy of 94.84.	[116]
Organic-inorganic membrane	N-[3-(trimethoxysilyl)propyl] ethylene diamine, 3-(triethoxysilyl)propyl isocyanate and porous glass fiber membranes	Elaborate steps (see Ref. 107)	Anionic dye	There was a recovery of over 92% of dye molecules.	[117]
Nano-enhanced membrane	Poly(ether sulfone) and cerium oxide nanoparticles	A non-solvent phase- induced procedure.	Direct Red 23, Congo Red, and Direct Red	The membrane exhibited rejection of 98.43 and 99.36% for Congo red dye and 99.78% for Direct red dye.	[118]
Inorganic membrane	Si-doped TiO2, Al2O3 membrane	Sol-gel technique	Dye Reactive Red ED-2B (RR ED-2B	The erasure efficiency of the membrane was based on the abroad absorption band in a span of 200 to 350 nm	[119]
Nano-enhanced membrane	Titania nanotubes (TNTs) and poly(vinylidene fluoride)	Phase inversion method	Brilliant green (BG) dye	There was an upsurge in the antifouling properties of the membrane. Excellent Water permeability and excellent antifouling recovery ratio were attained.	[120]
Organic-inorganic membrane	Coating of Polydopamine (PDA) with poly (vinylidene fluoride) modified with Fe2O3@SiO2 cubes	Solvothermal method followed by covalent immobilization of laccase	Azo dye	The membrane displayed an excellent stability and an outstanding reusability.	[121]
Nano-enhanced membrane	Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes coated with ultra-thin zeolitic imidazolate framework-8.	Phase inversion method	Rhodamine B, Direct Black 38) and Reactive Green 19	Rejection of 74%, 98 and 82% were attained respectively for Rhodamine B, Direct Black 38) and Reactive Green 19	[122]
Electrospun nanofiber membrane	PEI Polyethyleneimine(PEI)/Polyacrylonitrile (PAN) and Keratin	Keratin was functionalized over electrospun PEI/PAN using electrostatic interaction	Anionic dye	An improved rejection capacity of 93.25% was attained	[123]
Electrospun nanofiber membrane	Integration of (CNF)/TiO2 nanoparticles in PAN	Electrospun technique	Methylene blue dye	84% rejection was attained for methylene blue dye	[124]
Nano-enhanced membrane	Titanium aluminum nitride (Ti2AlN) as an inorganic additive and cellulose acetate	Reactive sintering method	reactive black 5, reactive red 120, and bovine serum	Excellent percentage erasure efficacy was attained for all the dyes.	[125]

#### 5.2. Use of polymer blends

To overcome the challenges of using adsorptive membranes in treating dye wastewater, the design of a novel material for the synthesizing adsorptive membranes might seem difficult; hence the blending of polymers to synthesize adsorptive membranes gives room for a number of gains such as its easy preparation, ability of replicating the membrane to obtain a consistency and commercial sustainability, resulting to an exceptional polymeric membrane with interdependent properties [136, 137]. The use of polymer blends for synthesizing membranes can be regarded as miscible or immiscible (homogeneous or heterogeneous) [138, 139]. Though, at a molecular level, the mixture of polymers is commonly immiscible as a result of their huge molecular mass; however, the miscibility of the polymers is imperative as the enhancement of membrane properties is usually sought after [137]. Hence, finding the means of how two polymers are mixed to obtain a miscible polymer blend for membrane preparation is of great importance. Polymer blends possess properties that are most likely governed by the structure attained in the course of preparation, and the means of studying this structure is very significant in materials science [140]. In polymer blends, the molecular interaction and miscibility that exist between the small molecule acceptor and the polymer donor usually exercise control over the morphological configuration of the donor-acceptor (D-A) blend [141]. Hence, the miscibility of polymers is imperative for synthesizing polymer mixtures with a precise phase transition.

Organic polymers have proven that they possess good capability for the erasure of colors using the adsorption mechanism [142, 143]. These polymers have been used and they are still in use for membrane preparation. Diverse polymers; be the natural or synthetic modified with some novel materials possess enhanced effectiveness of membranes devoid of permeation and flux alteration [142]. A unique coating with steady and outstanding wettability was constructively created on the polyphenylene sulfide membrane surface through co-deposition with PEI and mussel-inspired polydopamine, which possess imperative impact for polyphenylene sulfide membrane offering outstanding effectiveness and long-standing duration. The resultant membrane gave a higher dye rejection (> 99.0%) when compared with an unmodified membrane on account of the influence of size sieving, and Donnan exclusion. [144]. In the synthesis of polypropylene composite hollow fiber membranes embedded with acrylic monomers, results attained have shown excellent dye retention, respectively having a 99.5% and 98.7% elimination of Congo Red and methylthionine chloride [145]. The crosslinking of these membranes has permitted the formation of polymeric networks with pores and the developing acid-base resistance property, which assisted the retention of dyes via the functional groups in the polymer chains [142]. For example, in the study of Xu et al [144], the membrane improved through modification demonstrated an enhanced acid-base resistance characteristic, as a result of the crosslinking reaction that occurs between catechol and amino.

In addition, organic polymers such as synthetic hypercross-linked polymers usually possess enhanced pores with controlled size and slight working conditions ready to be utilized for the elimination of dyes [146]; hence, considered prospective polymer-based adsorbents. Hyper cross-linked polymers also possess ample pore structures, ease of preparation, high chemical stability, and low cost and they can be produced by employing Friedel Craft reaction, one-step acetal reaction, and a rapid low-temperature crosslinking reaction, etc., employed for an aromatic network with developed high surface area and micro-porosity. Qui et al. [147] prepared different types of cross-linked composite membranes on commercial Polyvinyl chloride hollow fiber substrates through hyper-branched polyester as the reactive macro-monomer and glutaraldehyde in the aqueous emulsion. The membranes were prepared to investigate the impacts of the concentration of glutaraldehyde and the time of heat treatment on membrane performance. Owing to the excellent stability and the viability of backwashing treatment. the membrane composite offers a capable perception for the utilization of dye removal. Lu et al. [148] fabricated a negatively charged aromatic polystyrene fiber cross-linked membrane through a rapid low-temperature crosslinking reaction of polystyrene fiber membrane attained by the means of co-axial electrospinning, then via sulfonation. The membrane displayed an excellent performance for cationic dye removal; like excellent adsorption efficiency with a high flow rate devoid of exterior pressure,100% rejection, notable stability, and sustainability.

The cross-linking of multiple polymers in the synthesis of adsorptive polymers can afford the creation of polymeric linkages with controlled pores which subsequently support the rejection of dye aided through the functional groups in the chains of the membrane. Hence, the interaction mechanism using polymer blends for the synthesis of membranes for the erasure of dye is functional group interaction. Since the atoms in the functional group are connected with the molecules by covalent bonds, the mechanism is also hinged on covalent interaction and hydrogen bonding. The improvement of the interaction of the mechanism for polymer blends can also be attained by making the conductive membrane highly porous through the use of pore enhancers; such as integrating inorganic porous materials into the mixed polymeric blends membranes.

### 5.3. Use of nanoparticles and nanomaterials

A nanoparticle or ultrafine particle is a spherical particle of matter that has a diameter in the range between 1 and 100 nm. Nano-sized particles, either present in nature or the ones synthesized from diverse products, like carbon or minerals such as silver; are materials at the nanoscale that possess a large surface area to volume ratio because of the small size they possess, enhancing the adsorption efficiency of membranes [149]. These nanoparticles display exceptional physical and chemical features like the prospect of having catalytic properties and great chemical reactivity, optical, conductivity, and magnetic properties [150]. In addition, carbon nanomaterials like graphene, CNT. CS. and several other functionalized materials have demonstrated prospective adsorption capacities towards the removal of dyes, especially when incorporated into membranes [151]. Nonetheless, nanomaterials must possess at the minimum one dimension that is not up to about 100 nanometers [152]. All the properties listed above are what makes nanoparticles better at adsorption as they have an appreciable number of energetic sites for suitable interaction with other chemical species [153].

Kadhim et al. [17] employed graphene oxide nanoparticles for the modification of PES membranes and synthesized mixed matrix membranes (MMMs) for the erasure of acid black and rose Bengal dyes. The membrane performance showed a higher rejection rate of more than 99% for the two dyes. An exhibited excellent antifouling property with the integration of 0.5 wt.% graphene oxide and higher flux was preserved after an extended period of the experiment of the synthesized membrane when embedded with 0.5 wt.% graphene oxide. Koriem et al. [154] examined the impregnation of nano-activated carbon (NAC) prepared from farming waste into acetate-based membranes for dye adsorption from contaminated water. The adsorptive membrane depicted a satisfactory performance in selectively removing methylene blue dye. Zhang et al. [64] modified an adsorptive membrane by incorporating iron (III) oxide (Fe<sub>3</sub>O<sub>4</sub>) nanoparticles in the membranesupportive stratum. The authors observed that the membrane maintained excellent adsorption efficacy even at the end of regeneration. This showed that the adsorption capacity of the adsorptive membrane can be upsurged by using nanoparticles to upsurge the functional adsorption sites. Shin et al. [87] reported the modification of functionalized polyvinylidene fluoride membranes by using chitosan-coated iron oxide nanomaterials (Fe-PVDF) for the effective adsorption of anionic dye from polluted water. When the conditions are neutral, Fe-PVDF revealed an excellent erasure efficacy of dye while the adsorption capacity was expressively improved when the conditions were acidic.

Furthermore, the electrostatic interaction that occurs between the positively charged chitosan and the negatively charged dye was used to explain the adsorption mechanism. Additionally, the mechanism was also explained by the attraction of the sulfate groups that the dye molecules possess, which aided the adsorption of dye on the surface of the iron oxide nanoparticles. Cellulose acetate as a biopolymer has been extensively used for the treatment of wastewater on account of its biodegradable characteristics, inexpensive, easily tailored, nontoxic, and ease of access [83, 155]. In addition, it is heat-resistant; hence, chemically and thermally stable. Inspite of all these unique properties, its relatively low adsorption efficiency hinders its employment for the erasure of dye from wastewater [156]. Hence, infusing adsorptive particles within cellulose acetate could improve membrane adsorptive capacity [157].

Additionally, graphene oxide as an adsorptive particle has been incorporated into an adsorptive membrane for the erasure of dye on account of its outstanding adsorption capacity. It is regarded as a prospective adsorbent on account of its large surface area that comprises a huge number of oxygen-functional groups. Vo et al. [84] modified an inorganic membrane by employing GO functional groups for the erasure of dye from wastewater. An exceptional performance in the recycling approach was attained. Some metal oxides have been used as adsorbents for the treatment of contaminated water; however, they possess a very low propensity to adsorb organic molecules such as dye. Hence, they can be mixed with other adsorbents and integrated into adsorptive membranes for treating dye wastewater. Wang et al. [158] introduced titanium dioxide nanowire (TiO<sub>2</sub>Nw) and layered double hydroxide (LDH) into a reduced graphene oxide (RGO) to create a unique material. This composite material was integrated into the CA membrane to form a photocatalytic membrane dye removal from wastewater. More than 99% rejection of dye was attained. The interaction mechanism in this study

would be hydrogen bonding and functional group interaction due to the presence of layered double hydroxide in the membrane.

The interaction mechanism in the synthesis of adsorptive membranes with the integrating nanomaterials for dye removal ensued from the functional group of the membrane by electrostatic interaction [81]. Hence, the adsorption mechanism of dye by adsorptive membranes synthesized with the integration of nanoparticles is hinged on hydrogen bonding interactions, electrostatic and  $\pi$ - $\pi$  stacking interactions. The improvement of these interaction mechanisms for adsorptive membranes synthesized with the integrating nanomaterials can also be attained by making the membrane surface negatively charged such as introducing cellulose nanocrystals or the introduction of an anionic group to the membrane.

## 5.4 Surface modifications

The surface properties of the membrane captiously have an impact on the performance operation of the membrane because the membrane surface makes contact with the feed. Any type of modification must have the capacity to bestow the membranes with unique properties and characteristics that will convert them into ready-to-use products that are more valuable [159]. Fouling of different sorts of unwanted contaminants on the surface of any membrane has a great impact on its properties and subsequently results in an arbitrated performance. Subsequently, a pronounced effort has been dedicated to reducing the undesirable buildup of molecules on the membrane surface [160]. Hence, surface modification is an effective procedure for upsurging the membrane's hydrophilicity. The modification of the membrane surface is usually carried out to create a hydrophilic stratum on the membrane surface that will subsequently avert the membrane surface from getting in touch with the pollutants; and consequently result in the reduction of fouling [161]. Surface modifications can be grouped into chemical and physical modifications [161]

Chemical modification is a very good approach to give a positive impact on required surface properties at the same time maintain the anticipated bulk properties of the polymer, like mechanical and chemical resistance together with the membrane morphological configuration [160]. Chemical surface modifications bestow the material with novel surface features that are not dependent on the bulk materials [162]. Usually, the principal reason for chemical modification is to convey cationic groups to the surface of the material, and this will aid the adsorption of dyes [163]. Usually, the activation of the surface base polymer chain will first take place through a chemical reaction preceding the institution of new-fangled functionalities [164]. This modification hence, offers a considerable influence on the scaffolding and features of the surfaces of materials owing to the chemical interactions that occur between the modifying agent and the surface of the material. Surface impurities could be removed from this method, producing some chemical changes. In addition, chemical modification enhances membrane wettability, and water permeability and provides resistance to fouling.

Diverse sorts of chemical agents have been employed for the modification of the surface of a membrane which changes the surface through covalent bonding that connects the required chemical moieties through carboxylation, sulfonation, amination, and epoxidation [162, 165]. Zhang et al. [166] reported an excellent super-wettable PVDF/chitosan/dopamine (PVDF/CS&DA) membrane synthesized through a facile one-step codeposition proposed design using the catalysis of tyrosinase. The composite membrane attained an exceptional separation; with an improved permeation flux and an outstanding performance for the erasure of anionic dyes. The result of this study depicts a good high adsorption efficiency of over 90%; with an excellent anti-fouling performance. Wang et al. [59] reported a hydrophilic amidoxime-modified polymer of inherent micro-porosity (AOPIM-1) membrane for the erasure of dye from wastewater. An excellent adsorption capacity was attained. In addition, the membrane attains >99.9% elimination of several nano-sized organic molecules with an improved flux. Zhao et al. [167] designed positively charged composite ceramic ultrafiltration (UF) membranes through the grafting of aminosilane onto constricted UF membranes. The authors integrated amino functional groups into the ceramic membrane surface via covalent bonds. This resulted into making restitution for the ceramic membranes surface charge weakness. The modified membranes were employed for the erasure of four dyes and the membrane demonstrated steady separation performance.

Another type of chemical modification of adsorptive membrane is free radical graft copolymerization. Grafting is one of the polymer modification techniques by which a polymer is connected to the backbone of a parent polymer, the substrate, through chemical connections which enables surface modification [168]. Grafting enhances the morphology, physical, and chemical properties of the polymer. The membrane's physicochemical properties could be further modified through the creation of a copolymer blended with one more polymer or through grafting. In free radical graft copolymerization of modifying adsorptive membranes, free radical generations occur, then moved to the substrate for monomers to react for the creation of the grafted copolymers [169]. Zhou et al. [170] incorporated zwitterionic carboxy betaine methacrylate into the surface and pore of the PVDF membrane through free radical polymerization proposed procedure to enhance its hydrophilicity and antifouling. The ultrafiltration experiments put forward that the antifouling of the grafted membranes was significantly enhanced. Liu et al. [171] applied an innovative free radical graft and self-cross-linking copolymerization approach to synthesize a catechin-modified chitosan nanofiltration membrane for the removal of dye in wastewater. Their result attained higher rejection of dyes and an excellent dye antifouling ability was also attained.

Chen et al. [172] prepared polyacrylic acid grafted polyethersulfone composite membrane through in-situ grafting and consequently, in-situ deposition of CdS nanoparticles by submerging the membrane in S and Cd<sup>2+</sup> solutions. The study observed that the membrane degradation was principally ensued from the superoxide anion free radicals. In addition, the membrane demonstrated outstanding rhodamine B dye rejection and the effectiveness of self-cleaning with the aid of visible light was observed to be excellent. Kuar et al. [173] reported the preparation of a green PVA-co-poly(MAA) adsorbent through free radical polymerization. Though the adsorbent is not a membrane, it, however, attained excellent regeneration efficiency for methylene blue removal from wastewater. In all, free radical graft copolymerization of monomers to the surface of the membrane or other adsorbent is a vital route to the erasure of dye from wastewater. However, the nature of the initiator is important as the initiator concentration affects the rate of grafting. In addition, the solubility of the monomer in the solvent is an imperative parameter because the swelling of the polymer backbone in the solvent aids in enhancing the grafting effectiveness, and the swelling of the backbone eases the access of the monomer to the active locations of the membrane for adsorption of dyes. Finally, the reactivity of the monomer is imperative in grafting as the concentration of the monomer influences the grafting efficiency. Apart from chemical modification, physical modification has been considered an excellent approach to give a functional enhancement to the operational effectiveness of membranes.

Physical modification is a common method that aids in enhancing the antifouling characteristics of membranes; this method encompasses coating the surface of the membrane with a sacrificial stratum that will serve as a shielding liner that suppresses the buildup and adsorption attraction of the foulants on the membrane surface [174]. This type of modification can be attained by directly coating the membrane with a hydrophilic polymer or by coating the membrane via the solution of chemically active monomers [161]. In addition, coating the membranes with the utilization of materials such as nanofillers and polymers via weak van der Waals or hydrogen forces gives an instance of modification through physical means [175, 176]. The main purpose of putting a coat on membranes on the top of the interfacially polymerized stratum, such as the method of grafting, is to synthesize membranes that will be more hydrophilic together with a reduction in the surface roughness. Coating could be absorbed on the surface, covalently connected to the membrane surface, in addition, it could also be cross-linked with itself [176]. The coating also makes the surface of the membrane either have positive or negative charges. This method also upsurges the ineradicable properties of membranes. Furthermore, changeable coating can also protect the membrane physically, in the course of fabrication and improve its antifouling properties [176].

Physical modification by directly coating the membrane with polymer is particularly a surface adsorption process that could be swayed via the polymer morphology on the interface [177]. In addition, the modification has shown that hydrophilic modifiers are present on the membrane surface through physical interaction. This approach is adaptable and it is a convenient process done under mild conditions to improve the hydrophilicity and membranes' performance [178]. Hence, surface alteration can be accomplished through physical modifications that do not need any chemical interactions [179]. Xi et [180] reported the coating and polymerization of 3,4al. dihydroxyphenylalanine and dopamine for surface modification for polyethylene, polyvinylidene fluoride, and polytetrafluoroethylene porous membranes. The membrane's surface hydrophilicities were assessed. It was established that there was a remarkable decrease in the water contact angle of the modified membranes, signifying that the membrane hydrophilicity was considerably enhanced. Qin et al. [177] reported the impacts of stationary and pore-flowing techniques for modifying polyacrylonitrile ultrafiltration. The capacities of some polymers to create a coating stratum were initially assessed and the polymers exhibited an excellent antifouling property. A compact and well-leveled stratum through a slack and arbitrary stratum was created, which altered the flux and antifouling properties of the membrane. However, physical modification application is restricted because they are recommended to flat sheet membranes on the account of their suitability, rather than hollow

fiber membranes [177]; it is however done with ease if the exterior surface of the hollow fiber membranes is coated by using dilute solution coating to improve membrane hydrophobicity. Li et al. [181] reported a slack and porous hydrophobic zeolitic imidazolate frameworks-71/PVDF coating stratum deposited on the external surface of PVDF hollow membrane using the means of diluting solution coating to improve membrane hydrophobicity for the erasure of Congo red using vacuum membrane distillation (VMD). The rejection of the dye depicts a minor alteration; however, remains above 99.9%. At the end of the modification process, surface area, roughness, surface charge, surface energy, hydrophobicity, and functional groups, reactivity will be enhanced [182].

For coating of the membrane via the solution of chemically active monomers, a solution of chemically active monomers will be firstly submerged by the polymeric membrane, or a coat can equally be applied using the membrane. Subsequently, they are fixed on the membrane surface via crosslink or polymerization reaction, devoid of upsetting the chemical configuration of the membrane sub-structure [162]. Monomers in active stratum have an impact on the cross-linking density, thickness, pore structure, and surface properties of the membranes which in turn impact the performance of membrane filtration [183]. The existence of hydrophilic monomers in membranes could also affect the membrane durability. Hence, introducing hydrophilic materials on the membrane surface would give the membrane the capability to hinder fouling; thus, upsurging the membrane service life [184]. The most commonly used reactive monomers are watersoluble diamines like piperazine, tannic acid, p-phenylenediamine; and acid chloride monomers like isophthaloyl chloride and trimesoyl chloride [185]. However, tannic acid is usually chosen owing to its oxidation resistance, antienzymatic, astringent, anti-bacterial with outstanding anti-fouling properties, these properties avert the degradation of membranes. In addition, trimesoyl chloride is employed as an acyl chloride monomer for the creation of thin films on the porous support coating [186]. Chen et al. [187] reported the synthesis of negatively charged polyether sulfone membranes for the erasure of dye, employing two types of vinyl monomers (acrylic acid and sodium styrene sulfonate) for the functionalization of PES through in-situ cross-linking copolymerization. The results showed that membranes depict effective adsorption capacity for methylene blue. Zhang et al. [188] designed an interfacial polymerization (IP) reaction scheme to make the Polyamide stratum on the polysulfone support. An innovative acyl chloride, trimellitic anhydride chloride (TAC) together with an anhydride group, were then instituted into the piperazine/1,3,5-benzenetricarbonyl trichloride (PIP/TMC)-based IP system, to prepare a TFC NF membrane with enhanced permeability. The resulting membrane showed an outstanding water-salt separation. Kumar et al. [186] used monomers (tannic acid (TA) and m-phenylenediamine (MPD) to synthesize a novel polyether sulfone (PES) based nanofiltration membrane to treat common effluent in textile wastewater. The membrane depicts excellent water permeability and rejection of salt, and the water can be further reused in the industry of agricultural irrigation. In addition, the modified membrane possesses a boosted anti-fouling property and outstanding hydrophilicity.

The interaction mechanism in modifying the surface of adsorptive membranes for dye removal with the utilization of the carboxylate group yields negative interfacial charges and offers colloidal steadiness to take out cationic dyes through electrostatic interactions. While the use of epoxide and hydroxyl functional groups in the plane could interrelate via noncovalent interactions. Hence, the interactions between them could be of pronounced significance to the resultant properties of the efficient hybrid adsorptive membrane linkages [84]. The improvement of the interaction of the mechanism for polymer blends can also be attained by making the conductive membrane highly porous through the use of pore enhancers; such as integrating inorganic porous materials into the modified membranes.

Literature has hence, proven that surface modification of adsorptive membranes has resulted in desirable surface properties that provide the membranes with excellent fouling resistances which will subsequently improve the membrane performance and durability. A summary of recent works published in the year 2023 concerning mechanisms, separation efficiency, types of modification methods, and types of additives are depicted in Table 2.

## Table 2

Summary of recent works, mechanisms, types of modification methods, types of additives, and separation efficiency

Recent works	Mechanisms	Types of modification methods	Type of additives	Separation efficiency	References
Self-assembled silk nanofibrils doped with different ratios of palygorskite to synthesize composite membranes using Genipin as a crosslinking agent.	Adsorption-assisted pore size filtration.	Functional modification	-	Excellent flux and high percentage rejection were attained for anionic dyes.	[189]
The modification of GO via granules of blast furnace slag derived from geopolymer was used to coat stainless-steel mesh for the preparation of an inorganic geopolymer membrane.	Participating in activities of physical retaining and electrostatic adsorption	Nanomaterial modification (Graphene oxide)	Graphene oxide	The adsorption rate of Methylene blue (MB) surpassed 91% in 4 hours.	[190]
Development of an inventive membrane made of blends of PVC and nanocellulose reinforced with titanium aluminate (TiAl <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> ) nanoparticles for dye removal.	Adsorption mechanism	-	TiAl <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> nanoparticles	The nanocomposite membrane exhibited 98.6% rejection of MB dye.	[191]
The utilization of a byproduct in the manufacturing of carpets (acrylic fibers waste), for the synthesis of membrane for the erasure of dyes	Adsorption mechanism	Chemical modification	Polyvinyl pyrrolidone (PVP)	The addition of 5% PVP raised its water flux to 320 Lm <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> and attained 90% rejection of MB	[192]
Development of chitosan, polyvinyl alcohol, and cornstarch integrating nanocellulose (CPCN) film as an alternative method for the removal of methylene blue dye.	Adsorption mechanism	Modification by use of nanomaterials	Nanocellulose	Excellent adsorption of MB was attained at pH 10.	[193]
Synthesis of Polyvinyl chloride PVC/PbO- graphite membrane for photocatalytic dye- degradation activity	Adsorption mechanism	Modification by use of nanomaterials	Lead(II) oxide (PbO)- graphite	The ACM was employed for the photodegradation of Congo red dye degraded about 71 % dye in 50 min.	[194]
Designed of spinnable highly protonated montmorillonite composites.	Adsorption mechanism via electrostatic attraction present between dyes active groups and the energetic locations on the surface of nanofiber	-	Montmorillonite	The adsorption capacity of the membranes was remarkably improved when the content of Montmorillonite was raised.	[195]
Development of composite films for effective investigation in removing dyes under diverse experimental conditions.	Surface adsorption mechanism	-		The two films prepared demonstrated excellent adsorption capacities.	[196]
Synthesis of graphene oxide (GO) incorporated into nanostructured polyethersulfone (PES) membranes for dye removal.	Adsorption mechanism	Physical modification	GO	The membrane demonstrated 85% performance at the end of 2 h contact with both microorganisms and an enhancement in colorant retention at the end of two and four cycles of filtration.	[197]

## 6. Proposed future direction of adsorptive membranes

In view of the drawbacks of adsorptive membranes. Several modification methods have been discussed. However, researchers need to look in the direction of making well-stable membranes, which will also possess less fouling properties and extended cleaning operations concerning dye wastewater treatment in the future. One way of achieving this is the use of ceramic adsorptive membranes. Ceramic membrane offers the benefits of narrow pore size distribution, thermal and chemical stability, and excellent mechanical strength which will in turn allow back flushing, high porosity and consequently, high flux; and extended life span [198]. Hence, the use of solid waste in synthesizing ceramic adsorptive membranes is proposed because ceramic membranes synthesized from solid wastes could possess catalytic properties devoid of the need to load additional catalysts in the course of synthesis. In addition, the waste-synthesized ceramic adsorptive membrane could possess multiple functions such as catalytic and/or twofold separationadsorption properties [199]. All these properties will result in high efficiency of the erasure of dyes from wastewater.

It is therefore imperative to find more efficient solid waste treatment approaches to have reduced particle sizes, have well-ordered distributions of particles, and work on improving the purity of the solid waste; this will combat the drawback of the trade-off that lies between nanometer-level selectivity and permeability. This will also aid in achieving excellent ceramic membranes with well-controlled pores which will in turn magnify the utilization of waste-derived adsorptive membranes for diverse applications. In addition, researchers should also look into investigating the sustainability of solid wastes used in synthesizing adsorptive membranes; hence, increased efforts ought to be dedicated to the transformation of waste-derived ceramic adsorptive membranes. Nanoparticles that will aid the filtration-adsorption characteristic of adsorptive membranes can be synthesized from agricultural wastes. It is also important to study the interaction mechanisms between dye and waste-derived adsorptive membranes. Though, one would believe that the ceramic adsorptive membranes synthesized from waste would be costeffective; however, it is important to do the overall cost breakdown and life

cycle assessment of these adsorptive membranes. Finally, it is also imperative to find out if the waste materials are hazardous as this will in turn affect the adsorptive membrane in the course of its long-term operation [199]. Hence, to an increasing extent, future research should focus on the sustainability of waste-derived ceramic adsorptive membranes.

## 7. Summary and conclusion

This review made available a readable fusion of the up-to-date resources available in the literature on the surface modification and incorporation of organic/inorganic additives into the membrane matrix. Up-to-date resources were also used to give a rundown on the governing interaction mechanisms of dye adsorption on adsorptive membranes. The summaries of findings are given in Table 3.

Adsorptive membranes have shown their effectiveness in the adsorption of different dyes from wastewater. Hence, adsorptive membranes are considered prospective technology as they make use of the adsorption process and separation process. The governing interaction mechanisms that aid their performance for the erasure of dyes from wastewater are found to be electrostatic interaction, functional group interaction, hydrophobic interaction, ionic and cation- $\pi$  interactions,  $\pi$ - $\pi$  interaction, and covalent interaction. Different types of adsorptive membranes and their performances have been discussed; however, adsorptive membranes are racked with some drawbacks. Though researchers have come up with different modification techniques to prevail over the downsides accompanied by employing adsorptive membranes for dye erasure; it is important to select an appropriate modification method that will help in optimizing the membranes for the proposed application. This technology, however, requires lots of investigation to make it sustainable and scale it up for industrial applications. The future direction of adsorptive membranes was also discussed. Thus, future research should focus on the sustainability of adsorptive membrane applications for the erasure of dye from wastewater.

#### Table 3

The summary of the findings

Purpose	Type of resources	Summary points
To Identify interaction mechanisms between dye molecules and membranes	Journal articles	The interaction mechanisms are electrostatic interaction, functional group interaction, hydrophobic interaction, ionic and cation- $\pi$ interactions, $\pi$ - $\pi$ interaction, and covalent interaction.
To put forward adsorptive membranes as prospective technology for dye wastewater treatment	Journal articles	Adsorptive membranes are described via their strong attraction for molecules and ions, by way of combining ions through ion exchange, chelation bonding, and complexion. Hence, the reaction between the membrane and the solute constructs an interior spherical complex bound which will subsequently bring out a permeate of sieved water from the membrane.
To identify kinds of adsorptive membranes	Journal articles	The different types of adsorptive membranes are characterized by performance efficiency such as high removal efficiency, high water flux, high adsorption rate, and suitable reusability.
To identify the shortcomings of adsorptive membranes.	Journal articles	Different modifications have been used to combat the drawbacks of adsorptive membranes.
To propose the future direction of adsorptive membranes	Journal articles	The future direction of adsorptive membranes was proposed.

## Data availability

Not applicable.

## Acknowledges

The authors wholeheartedly appreciate the Chancellor and Managerial team of Covenant University for making this medium accessible to write this review.

## Funding

No funding was received for conducting this study. The authors have no relevant financial or non-financial interests to disclose.

## **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

## **CRedit authorship contribution statement**

- *F.A. Akinyemi*: Investigation; Methodology; Resources; Writing original draft; Writing review & editing.
- O. Agboola: Conceptualization; Formal analysis; Funding acquisition; Project administration; Resources; Supervision; Writing review & editing.
- O. Oladokun: Resources; Supervision.
- E.E. Alagbe: Resources; Supervision.
- R. Sadiku: Supervision.

#### References

- M. Dutta, J.K. Basu, Statistical optimization for the adsorption of acid fuchsin onto the surface of carbon alumina composite pellet: An application of response surface methodology, J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 5 (2012) 42-53. 10.3923/jest.2012.42.53.
- [2] C. Parvathi, T. Maruthavanan, Adsorptive removal of Megenta MB cold brand reactive dye by modified activated carbons derived from agricultural waste, Indian J. Sci. Technol. 3 (2010) 408-410. 10.17485/ijst/2010/v3i4.5.
- [3] S.S. Moghaddama, M.R.A. Moghaddama, M. Arami, Coagulation/flocculation process for dye removal using sludge from water treatment plant: Optimization through response surface methodology, J. Hazard. Mater. 175 (2010) 651-657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.10.058.
- [4] M.R. Gadekar, M.M. Ahammed, Coagulation/flocculation process for dye removal using water treatment residuals: Modelling through artificial neural networks, Desalination Water Treat. 57 (2016) 26392-26400. https://doi.org/10.1080/19443994.2016.1165150.
- [5] D. Prats, V.P. Yagüe, M. Rodriguez, Colour elimination through oxidation technologies in leather finishing industry wastewaters, Transactions on Ecology and the Environment, WIT Press 65 (2003) 241-250.
- [6] V.O. Shikuku, W.N. Nyairo, Advanced oxidation processes for dye removal from Wastewater, IGI Global (2020) 34 https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-0311-9.ch010.
- [7] R. Tosik, Dyes color removal by ozone and hydrogen peroxide: Some aspects and problems, The Ozone Sci. Eng. 27 (2005) 265-71.10.1080/01919510591005905.
- [8] J, Ma, W, Song, C, Chen, W, Ma, J, Zhao, Y, Tang, Fenton degradation of organic compounds promoted by dyes under visible irradiation, Environ. Sci. Technol. 39 (2005) 5810-5815. https://doi.org/10.1021/es050001x.
- [9] A.R. Khataee, V. Vatanpour, A.R. Amani Ghadim, Decolorization of C.I Acid blue 9 solutions by UV/Nnao TiO2, Fenton-like, electro-Fenton, and electro coagulation processes: A comparative study, J. Hazard. Mater. 161 (2009) 1225-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.04.075.
- [10] V. Gurumoorthy, R. Balasubramanian, S.C Mohan, Isotherm and kinetic studies of methylene blue adsorption using activated carbon prepared from teak wood waste biomass, J. Appl. Sci. 19 (2019) 827-836. 10.3923/jas.2019.827.836.
- [11] Q. Han, W. Jing, A. Bernard, J. Xie, Z. Liu, High adsorption of methylene blue by activated carbon prepared from phosphoric acid treated eucalyptus residue, Powder Technol. 366 (2020) 239-248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.powtec.2020.02.013.
- [12] K. John, S. Lin, K. Amit, Y. Zhao, J. Choi, M. Song, C. Cho, Y. Yun, Evaluation of orange peel derived activated carbons for treatment of dye contaminated wastewater tailings, Environ. Sci. Poll. Res. 27 (2020) 1053-1068. 10.1007/s11356-019-07031-8.
- [13] S. Wong, N.A. Ghafar, N. Ngadi, F.A. Razmi, I.M. Inuwa, R. Mat, N.A.S. Amin, Effective removal of anionic textile dyes using adsorbent synthesized from coffee waste, Sci. Rep. 10 (2020) 2928. 10.1038/s41598-020-60021-6.
- [14] S. Barredo-Damas, M.I. Alcaina-Miranda, M.I. Iborra-Clar, J.A. Mendoza-Roca, Application of tubular ceramic ultrafiltration membranes for the treatment of integrated textile wastewaters, Chem. J. 192 (2012) 211-218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2012.03.079.
- [15] J. Babu, Z.V.P. Murthy, Treatment of textile dyes containing wastewaters with PES/PVA thin film composite nanofiltration membranes, Sep. Purif. Technol. 183 (2017) 66-72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2017.04.002.
- [16] X.L. Cao, Y.N. Yan, F.Y. Zhou FY, S.P. Sun, Tailoring nanofiltration membranes for effective removing dye intermediates in complex dyewastewater, J. Membr. Sci. 595 (2020) 117476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2019.117476.
- [17] R.J. Kadhim, F.H. Al-Ani, M. Al-shaeli, Q.F. Alsalhy, A, Figoli, Removal of dyes using graphene oxide (GO) mixed matrix membranes, Membr. 10 (2020) 1-24. 10.3390/membranes10120366
- [18] Q. Fan, P. Li, D. Pan, Radionuclides sorption on typical clay minerals: Modeling and spectroscopies, Interface Sci. Technol. 29 (2019) 1-38. 10.1016/j.watres.2004.04.019
- [19] B. Robert, G. Nallathambi, Indoor formaldehyde removal by catalytic oxidation, adsorption, and nanofibrous membranes: A review, Environ. Chem. Lett. 19 (2021) 2551-2579. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-020-01168-6
- [20] S.N. Rao, Adsorption. In: Vincent Ball (Eds) Self-assembly processes at interface: Multiscale phenomena, Interface Sci. Technol. 21 (2018) 251-331.

- [21] pharmacy180.com, Solid-gas interface: Adsorption, https://www.pharmacy180.com/article/solid-gas-interface--adsorption-2741/ (2019) [Accessed 17th November, 2022]
- [22] M, Zahoor, M. Mahramanlioglu, Removal of 2, 4-D from water, using various adsorbents in combination with ultrafiltration, Fresenius Environ. Bull. 20 (2011) 2508-2513.
- [23] M. Wahab, M. Zahoor, S.M. Salam, A.W. Kamran, S. Naz, J. Burlakovs, A. Kallistova, N. Pimenov, I. Zekker, Adsorption-Membrane hybrid approach for the removal of azithromycin from water: An attempt to minimize drug resistance problem, Water 13 (2021) 1969. 10.3390/w13141969.
- [24] M. Ağtas, T. Ormanci-Acar, B. Keskin, T. Türken, I. Koyuncu, Nanofiltration membranes for salt and dye filtration: effect of membrane properties on performances, Water Sci. Technol. 83 (2021) 2146-2159. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2021.125.
- [25] H. Li, X. Cao, C. Zhang, Q. Yu, Z. Zhao, X. Niu, Z. Li, Enhanced adsorptive removal of anionic and cationic dyes from single or mixed dye solutions using MOF PCN-222. RSC Adv. 7 (2017) 16273-16281. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7RA01647F.
- [26] L. Goswami, A. Kushwaha, S.R. Kafle, B.-S. Kim, Surface modification of biochar for dye removal from wastewater, Catal .12 (2022) 817. https://doi.org/10.3390/catal12080817.
- [27] M.E. Mahmoud, A.M. Abdelfattah, R.M. Tharwat, G.M. Nabil, Adsorption of negatively charged food tartrazine and sunset yellow dyes onto positively charged triethylenetetramine biochar: Optimization, kinetics, and thermodynamic study, J. Mol. Liq. 318 (2020) 114297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2020.114297.
- [28] C.A. Martínez-Huitle, M.A. Rodrigo, I. Sirés, O. Scialdone, Single and coupled electrochemical processes and reactors for the abatement of organic water pollutants: A critical review, Chem. Rev. 115 (2015) 13362-13407. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.5b00361.
- [29] P. Huang, D. Xia, A. Kazlauciunas, P. Thornton, L. Lin, R. Menzel, Dyemediated interactions in chitosan-based polyelectrolyte/organo-clay hybrids for enhanced adsorption of industrial dyes, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces (2019) 1-3. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsami.9b01648.
- [30] I. Ali, New generation adsorbents for water treatment, Chem Rev 112 (2012) 5073-5091. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr300133d.
- [31] X. Huo, Y. Zhang, J. Zhang, P. Zhou, R. Xie, C. Wei, Y. Liu, N. Wang, Selective adsorption of anionic dyes from aqueous solution by nickel (II) oxide, J. Water Supply Res. Technol. 68 (2019) 171-186. https://doi.org/10.2166/aqua.2019.115.
- [32] E. Misran, O. Bani, E.M. Situmeang, A.S. Purba, Removal efficiency of methylene blue using activated carbon from waste banana stem: Study on pH influence, IOP Conf. Ser.: Earth Environ. Sci. 122 (2018) 1-7. https://doi.org.10.1088/1755-1315/122/1/012085.
- [33] S. Dawood, T.K. Sen, Removal of anionic dye Congo red from aqueous solution by raw pine and acid-treated pine cone powder as adsorbent: equilibrium, thermodynamic, kinetics, mechanism and process design, Water Res. 46 (2012) 1933-1946. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.01.009
- [34] W. Xiao, X. Jiang, X. Liu, W. Zhou, Z.N. Garba, I. Lawan, L. Wang, Z. Yuan, Adsorption of organic dyes from wastewater by metal-doped porous carbon materials, J. Clean. Prod. 284 (2021) 124773. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.124773.
- [35] T. Courtois, Characterization des membranes de nanofiltration, First Nanofiltration and Application Workshop, France-Canada, TroisRevieres, 2-4 June (1997).
- [36] B. Van der Bruggen, C. Vandecasteele, Flux decline during nanofiltration of organic components in aqueous solution, Environ. Sci. Technol. 35(2001) 3535-3540. 10.1021/es0100064.
- [37] X.L. Wang, W.N. Wang, D.X. Wang, Experimental investigation on separation performance of nanofiltration membranes for inorganic electrolyte solutions, Desalin. 145 (2002) 115-122. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0011-9164(02)00395-8.
- [38] A.C. Gomes, I.C. Goncalves, M.N. de Pinho, The role of adsorption on nanofiltration of azo dyes, J. Membr. Sci. 255 (2005) 157-165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2005.01.031.
- [39] O. Agboola, J. Maree, R. Mbaya, A. Kolesnikov, R. Sadiku, A. Verliefde, A. D'Haese, Microscopical characterizations of nanofiltration membranes for the removal of nickel ions from aqueous solution, Korean J. Chem. Eng., 32(4) (2015) 731-742. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11814-014-0290-1
- [40] T. Luxbacher, The many applications of membrane zeta potential, Filtration separation, (2022) https://www.filtsep.com/content/features/themany-applications-of-membrane-zeta-potential/ [Retrieved 20th February, 2023]
- [41] A. Martin, F. Martinez, J. Malfeito, L. Palacio, P. Prádanos, A. Hernández, Zeta potential of membranes as a function of pH:

Optimization of isoelectric point evaluation, J. Membr. Sci. 213 (2003) 225-230. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0376-7388(02)00530-6

- [42] S. Bracko, J. Span, Osmotic coefficients of C.I. Acid Orange 7 in aqueous solution and the presence of a simple electrolyte, Dyes. Pigm. 35 (1997) 165-169. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0143-7208(96)00099-X.
- [43] D. Çimen, F. Yılmaz, Bovine Serum Albumin Adsorption by Dye Derived Poly(hydroxyethyl methacrylate) [PHEMA] Membranes, Hacettepe J. Biol. Chem. 43 (2015) 13-223.
- [44] S.M. Burkinshaw, G. Salihu, The role of auxiliaries in the immersion dyeing of textile fibres: Part 7 theoretical models to describe the mechanism by which inorganic electrolytes promote reactive dye uptake on cellulosic fibres, Dyes Pigm. 161 (2019) 605-613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dyepig.2017.09.024.
- [45] Y. Hu, T. Guo, X. Ye. Q. Li, M. Guo, H. Liu, Z. Wu, Dye adsorption by resins: Effect of ionic strength on hydrophobic and electrostatic interactions, Chem. Eng. J. 228 (2013) 392-397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2013.04.116
- [46] E. Virga, E. Spruijt, W.M. de Vos, P.M. Biesheuvel, Wettability of amphoteric surfaces: The effect of pH and ionic strength on surface ionization and wetting, Langmuir 34 (2018) 15174-15180. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.langmuir.8b02875
- [47] S. Krasne, Interactions of voltage-sensing dyes with membranes II. Spectrophotometric and electrical correlates of cyanine-dye adsorption to membranes, Biophys. J. 30 (1980) 441-462. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3495(80)85106-X.
- [48] M. Belhachemi, Adsorption of organic compounds on activated carbons. In: Sorbents materials for controlling environmental pollution, Elsevier (2021) 355-385. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-820042-1.00006-7
- [49] S.A. Samad, A. Arafat, R. Ferrari, R.L. Gomes, E. Lester, I. Ahmed, Adsorption studies and effect of heat treatment on porous glass microspheres, Appl. Glass Sci. 13 (2021) 63- 81. 10.1111/ijag.16352
- [50] S.-Q. Fu, M.-Z. Zhu, B. Xue, P.-N. Liu, Synergy between ionic capacity and intrinsic porosity in imidazolium-based cationic organic polymers and its effect on anionic dye adsorption, Macromol. 55 (2022) 8784-8794. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.macromol.2c01127.
- [51] D.S. Lakshmi, S. Santoro, E. Avruscio, A. Tagarelli, A. Figoli, Preparation of polymer inclusion membranes (PIMs) with ionic liquid and its application in dye adsorption process supported by statistical analysis, Int. J. Membr. Sci. Technol. 2 (2015) 65-77.
- [52] S. Gorgieva, R. Vogrinčič, V. Kokol, The effect of membrane structure prepared from carboxymethyl cellulose and cellulose nanofibrils for cationic dye removal. J. Polym. Environ. 27 (2019) 318-332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10924-018-1341-1
- [53] L. Qalyoubi, A. Al-Othman, S. Al-Asheh, Recent progress and challenges on adsorptive membranes for the removal of pollutants from wastewater. Part I: Fundamentals and classification of membranes, Case Studies in Chem. Environ. Eng. 3 (2021a) 100086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cscee.2021.100086.
- [54] E. Salehi, P. Daraei, A.A. Shamsabadi, A review on chitosan-based adsorptive membranes. Carbohydr. Polym. 152 (2016) 419-432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2016.07.033.
- [55] Z.Q. Huang, Z. Cheng, Recent advances in adsorptive membranes for removal of harmful cations, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 137 (2020) 48579. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.48579.
- [56] A, Ghaee, M. Shariaty-Niassar, J. Barzin, A. Zarghan, Adsorption of copper and nickel ions on macroporous chitosan membrane: Equilibrium study, App. Surf. Sci. 258 (2012) 7732-7743. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2012.04.131.
- [57] L. Zhang, Y.H. Zhao, R. Bai, Development of a multifunctional membrane for chromatic warning and enhanced adsorptive removal of heavy metal ions: Application to cadmium, J. Membr. Sci. 379 (2011) 69-79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2011.05.044.
- [58] J.L. Fenton, D.W. Burke, D. Qian, M.O. Cruz, W.R. Dichtel, Polycrystalline covalent organic framework films act as adsorbents, not membrane, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 143 (2021) 1466-1473. https://doi.org/10.1021/jacs.0c11159.
- [59] Z. Wang, X. Luo, Z. Song, K. Lu, S. Zhu, Y. Yang, Y. Zhang, W. Fang, J. Jin, Microporous polymer adsorptive membranes with high processing capacity for molecular separation, Nat. Commun. 13 (2022) 4169. 10.1038/s41467-022-31575-y.
- [60] R.C. Smith, L.I. Jinze, S. Padungthon, Nexus between polymer support and metal oxide nanoparticles in hybrid nanosorbent materials (HNMs) for sorption/ desorption of target ligands, Front. Environ. Sci. Eng. 9 (2015) 929-938. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11783-015-0795-9.
- [61] S. Hao, Z. Jia, J. Wen, S. Li, W. Peng, R. Huang, X. Xu, Progress in adsorptive membranes for separation-A review, Sep. Purif. Technol. 255 (2021) 117772. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2020.117772.

- [62] S.J. Ergas, D.E. Rheinheimer, Drinking water denitrification using a membrane bioreactor, Water Res. 38 (2004) 3225-3232. 10.1016/j.watres.2004.04.019.
- [63] Y, Bao, X, Yan, W, Du, X. Xie, Z. Pan, J. Zhou, L. Li, Application of amine-functionalized mcm-41 modified ultrafiltration membrane to remove chromium (VI) and copper (II), Chem. Eng. J. 281 (2015) 460-467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2015.06.094.
- [64] X. Zhang, X. Fang, J. Li, S. Pan, X. Sun, J. Shen, W. Han, L. Wang, S. Zhao, Developing new adsorptive membrane by modification of support layer with iron oxide microspheres for arsenic removal, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 514 (2018) 760-768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2018.01.002.
- [65] A. Nqombolo, A. Mpupa, R.M. Moutloali, P.N. Nomngongo, Wastewater treatment using membrane technology: In Wastewater and water quality, InTech (2018) 10.5772/intechopen.76624
- [66] C.O. M'Bareck, Q.T. Nguyen, S. Alexandre, I.J. Zimmerlin Fabrication of ion-exchange ultrafiltration membranes for water treatment I. Semiinterpenetrating polymer networks of polysulfone and poly(acrylic acid), J. Membr. Sci. 278 (2006) 10-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2005.10.058.
- [67] R. Zhang, J. Zhang, X. Zhang, C. Dou, R. Han, Adsorption of Congo red from aqueous solutions using cationic surfactant modified wheat straw in batch mode: Kinetic and equilibrium study, J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng. 45 (2018) 2578-2583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtice.2014.06.009.
- [68] Z. Karim, A.P. Mathew, M. Grahn, J. Mouzon, K. Oksman, Nanoporous membranes with cellulose nanocrystals as functional entity in chitosan: Removal of dyes from water, Carbohydr. Polym. 112 (2014) 668-676. 10.1016/j.carbpol.2014.06.048.
- [69] J. Fang, Y. Chen, C. Fang, L. Zhu, Regenerable adsorptive membranes prepared by mussel-inspired co-deposition for aqueous dye removal, Sep. Purif. Technol. 281 (2022) 119876. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2021.119876.
- [70] F. Hu, C. Fang, Z. Wang, C. Liu, B. Zhu, L. Zhu, Poly (N-vinyl imidazole) gel composite porous membranes for rapid separation of dyes through permeating adsorption, Sep. Purif. Technol. 188 (2017) 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2017.06.024.
- [71] W.-Z. Qiu, H.-C. Yang, L.-S. Wan, Z.-K. Xu, Co-deposition of catechol/polyethyleneimine on porous membranes for efficient decolorization of dye water, J. Mater. Chem. A3 (27) (2015) 14438-14444. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5TA02590G.
- [72] L.Y. Thuyavana, G. Arthanareeswarana, A.F. Ismail, P.S. Goh, M.V. Shankar, N. Lakshmana Reddy. Treatment of synthetic textile dye effluent using hybrid adsorptive ultrafiltration mixed matrix membranes, Chem. Eng. Res. Design 159 (2020) 92-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cherd.2020.04.005.
- [73] S. Pan, J. Li, O. Noonan, X. Fang, G. Wan, C. Yu, L. Wang, Dual-Functional ultrafiltration membrane for simultaneous removal of multiple pollutants with high performance, Environ. Sci. Technol. (2017) 5098-5107. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b05295.
- [74] Z. Zhu, L. Zhu, J. Li, J. Tang, G. Li, Y.K. Hsieh, T. Wang, C.F.J.J. Wang, Effect of interactions between Co<sup>2+</sup> and surface goethite layer on the performance of α-FeOOH coated hollow fiber ceramic ultrafiltration membranes, Colloid Interface Sci. 466 (2016) 28-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2015.12.014.
- [75] J. Fang, G. Liu, C. Chen, C. Lin, B. Zhang, H. Jin, Y. Chen, J. Lu, L. Zhu, Intrinsically antibacterial thin film composite membranes with supramolecularly assembled lysozyme nanofilm as selective layer for molecular separation, Sep. Purif. Technol. 254 (2021) 117585. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2020.117585.
- [76] Z. Berk, Membrane Processes. In: Food Process Engineering and Technology, Elsevier (2009) 233-257
- [77] P. Rallapalli, K.P. Prasanth, D. Patil, R.S. Somani, R.V. Jasra, H.C. Bajaj, Sorption studies of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>, CO, O<sub>2</sub> and Ar on nanoporous aluminum terephthalate [MIL-53(Al)], J. Porous Mater. 18 (2010) 205-210. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10934-010-9371-7.
- [78] D.T. Infield, A. Rasouli, G.D. Galles, C. Chipot, E. Tajkhorshid, C.A. Ahern, Cation-π interactions and their functional roles in membrane proteins, J. Mol. Biol. 433 (2021) 167035. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2021.167035.
- [79] L. Cseri, F. Topuz, M.A. Abdulhamid, A. Alammar, P.M. Budd, G. Szekely, Electrospun adsorptive nanofibrous membranes from ion exchange polymers to snare textile dyes from wastewater, Adv. Mater. Technol. (2021) 2-9. 10.1002/admt.202170059.
- [80] M.R. Adam, S.K. Hubadillah, M.I.M. Esham, M.H.D. Othman, M.A. Rahman, A.F. Ismail, J. Jaafar, Adsorptive membranes for heavy metals removal from water, In: Membrane Separation Principles and

Applications, Elsevier (2019) 361-400. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812815-2.00012-0.

- [81] L. Qalyoubi, A. Al-Othman, S. Al-Asheh, Recent progress and challenges on adsorptive membranes for the removal of pollutants from wastewater. Part II: Environmental Applications, Case Studies in Chem. Environ. Eng. 3 (2021b) 100102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cscee.2021.100102.
- [82] J. Fu, J. Zhu, Z. Wang, Y. Wang, S. Wang, R. Yan, Q. Xu, Highlyefficient and selective adsorption of anionic dyes onto hollow polymer microcapsules having a high surface-density of amino groups: Isotherms, kinetics, thermodynamics and mechanism, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 542 (2019) 123-135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2019.01.131.
- [83] J. Cheng, C. Zhan, J. Wu, Z. Cui, J. Si, Q. Wang, X. Peng, L.-S. Turng, Highly efficient removal of methylene blue dye from an aqueous solution using cellulose acetate nanofibrous membranes modified by polydopamine, ACS Omega 5 (2020) 5389-5400. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.9b04425.
- [84] T.S. Vo, M.M. Hossain, T.Lim, J.W. Suk, S. Choi, K. Kim, Modification of the interfacial glass fiber surface through graphene oxide-chitosan interactions for excellent dye removal as an adsorptive membrane, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 10 (2022) 108965. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2022.108965
- [85] J. Zhao, H. Liu, P. Xue, S. Tian, S Sun, X. Lv, Highly-efficient PVDF adsorptive membrane filtration based on chitosan@CNTs-COOH simultaneous removal of anionic and cationic dyes. Carbohydr. Polym. 274 (2021) 118664. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2021.118664
- [86] M. Lie, L. Yang, Y. Shen, L. Yang, J. Sun, Efficient adsorption of anionic dyes by ammoniated waste polyacrylonitrile fiber: Mechanism and practicability, ACS Omega 6 (2021) 19506-19516. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.1c01780.
- [87] J.-H. Shin, J.E. Yang, J.E. Park, S.-W. Jeong, S.-J. Choi, Y.J. Choi, J. Jeon, Rapid and efficient removal of anionic dye in water using a chitosan-coated iron oxide-immobilized polyvinylidene fluoride membrane, ACS Omega 7 (2022) 8759-8766. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.1c06991.
- [88] M. Liu, Q. Chen, K. Lu, W. Huang, Z. Lü, C. Zhou, S. Yu, C. Gao, High efficient removal of dyes from aqueous solution through nanofiltration using diethanolamine-modified polyamide thin-film composite membrane, Sep. Purif. Technol. 173 (2017) 135-143. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2016.09.023
- [89] S.M. Alardhi, T.M. Albayati, J.M. Alrubaye, A hybrid adsorption membrane process for removal of dye from synthetic and actual wastewater, Chem. Eng. Process.: Process Intensification 157 (2020) 108113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cep.2020.108113
- [90] T.S. Vo, M.M. Hossain, H.M. Jeong, K. Kim, Heavy metal removal applications using adsorptive membranes, Nano Convergence 7 (2020) 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40580-020-00245-4.
- [91] S. Zhang, H. Matsumoto, Electrospun ion-exchange membranes, In: Electrospun and nanofibrous membranes: Principles and Applications, Elsevier (2023) 455-469. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-823032-9.00018-0.
- [92] L. Li, W. Guo, S. Zhang, R. Guo, L. Zhang, Electrospun nanofiber membrane: An efficient and environmentally friendly material for the removal of metals and dyes, Molecules 28 (2023) 1-25. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules28083288
- [93] A.H. Naeini, M.R. Kalaee, O. Moradi, N.M. Mahmoodi, A review of dye removal using polymeric nanofibers by electrospinning as promising adsorbents, J. Water and Water 33(6) (2022) 44-66. dx.doi.org/10.22093/wwj.2022.367297.3295
- [94] C. Akduman, E.P.A. Kumbasar, S. Morsunbul, Electrospun nanofiber membranes for adsorption of dye molecules from textile wastewater, 17th World Textile Conference AUTEX 2017- Textiles - Shaping the Future, IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering 254 (2017) 1-8. doi:10.1088/1757-899X/254/10/102001
- [95] F.-F. Ma, D. Zhang, T. Huang, N. Zhang, Y. Wang, Ultrasonicationassisted deposition of graphene oxide on electrospun poly(vinylidene fluoride) membrane and the adsorption behavior, Chem. Eng. J. 385 (2019) 1065-1073. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.10.121
- [96] Y.-S. Chen, C.W. Ooi, P.L. Show, B.C. Hoe, W.S. Chai, C.-Y. Chiu, S.S.S. Wang, Y.-K. Chang, Removal of ionic dyes by nanofiber membrane functionalized with chitosan and egg white proteins: Membrane preparation and adsorption efficiency, Membranes (Basel) 12(1) (2022) 63. doi:10.3390/membranes12010063
- [97] H. Sun, B. Yu, X. Pan, Z. Liu, MOF Nanosheets-decorated electrospun nanofiber membrane with Ultra-high adsorption capacity for dye removal from aqueous solutions, J. Mol. Liq. 367 (2022) 120367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molliq.2022.120367

- [98] N. Nady, M.H.A. Rehim, A.A. Badawy, Dye removal membrane from electrospun nanofibers of blended polybutylene-succinate and sulphonated expanded polystyrene waste, Sci. Rep. 13 (2023) 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-42424-3
- [99] L. De Bartolo, Membrane biomaterial, In: Drioli, E., Giorno, L. (eds) Encyclopedia of Membranes, Springer (2015) 1-2. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-40872-4\_1197-2
- [100] A.M. El-Hadi, H.R. Alamri, The new generation from biomembrane with green technologies for wastewater treatment, Polym. (Basal) 10(10) (2018) 1174. doi: 10.3390/polym10101174.
- [101] R.S. Dassanayake, E. Rajakaruna, H. Moussa, N, Abidi, One-pot synthesis of MnO2-chitin hybrids for effective removal of methylene blue, Int. J. Bio Macromol. 93 (2016) 350-358. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2016.08.081
- [102] Y. Song, Y. Sun, M. Chen, P. Huang, T. Li, X. Zhang, K. Jiang, Efficient removal and fouling-resistant of anionic dyes by nanofiltration membrane with phosphorylated chitosan modified graphene oxide nanosheets incorporated selective layer, J. Water Process Eng. 34 (2020) 101086. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2019.101086
- [103] N.I. Hasanuddin, W.N.A.W. Mokhtar, R. Othman, F.H. Anuar, Poly(lactic acid)-poly(ethylene glycol)/Magnesium silicate membrane for methylene blue removal: Adsorption behavior, mechanism, ionic strength and reusability studies, Membr. 12(2) (2022) 198. https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes12020198
- [104] H. Verweij, Inorganic membranes, Curr. Opin. Chem. Eng. 2 (2012) 156-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coche.2012.03.006
- [105] R.S. Hebbar, A.M. Isloor, Inamuddin, M.S. Abdullah, A.F. Ismail, A.M. Asiri, Fabrication of polyetherimide nanocomposite membrane with amine functionalised halloysite nanotubes for effective removal of cationic dye effluents, J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng. 93 (2018) 42-53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtice.2018.07.032
- [106] M.A.D.F. Alarcón, C.A. Pacheco, K.G. Bustos, K.T. Meza, F. Terán-Hilares, D.A.P. Tanaka, G.J.C. Andrade, R. Terán-Hilares, Efficient dye removal from real textile wastewater using orange seed powder as suitable bio-Adsorbent and membrane technology, Water 14 (2022) 1-14. https://doi.org/10.3390/w14244104
- [107] A.M. Nasir, P.S. Goh, M.S. Abdullah, B.C. Ng, A.F. Ismail, Adsorptive nanocomposite membranes for heavy metal remediation: Recent progresses and challenges, Chemosphere
- 232 (2019) 96-112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.05.174
- [108] S. Kim, S.M. Oh, S.Y. Kim, J.D. Park, Role of adsorbed polymers on nanoparticle dispersion in drying polymer nanocomposite films, Polym. (Basal) 13 (2021) 2960.
- doi:10.3390/polym13172960
- [109] M. Manoukian, H. Fashandi, H. Tavakol, Polysulfone-highly uniform activated carbon sphere mixed-matrix membrane intended for efficient purification of dye wastewater,
- Mater. Res. Express 6 (2019) 055313. https://doi.org/10.1088/2053-1591/ab03fa
- [110] R. Kalaivizhi, B. Danagody, A. Yokesh, ACs@ZnO incorporated with a PSF/PU polymer membrane for dye removal, Mater. Adv. 3 (2022) 8534. https://doi.org/10.1039/d2ma00794k
- [111] A. Essate, B. Achiou, S. Benkhaya, S. Chakraborty, M. Ouammou, S.A. Younssi, Low-cost polysulfone/polystyrene ultrafiltration membrane with efficient azoic dyes removal and excellent antifouling performance for colored wastewater, Polym. Adv. Technol. 34
- (2023) 1279-1292. https://doi.org/10.1002/pat.5969
- [112] N. Gowriboy, R. Kalaivizhi, M.R. Ganesh, K.A. Aswathy, Development of thin film polymer nanocomposite membrane (ZIF-8@PSf/ CS) for removal of textile pollutant and evaluating the effect of water samples on human monocytic cell lines (THP-1) using flow cytometer, J. Clean. Prod. 377 (2022) 134399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.134399
- [113] Y. Qi, L. Zhu, X. Shen, A. Sotto, C. Gao, J. Shen, Polythyleneiminemodified original positive charged nanofiltration membrane: Removal of heavy metal ions and dyes, Sep. Purif. Technol. 222 (2019) 117-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2019.03.083
- [114] G. Abdi, A Alizadeh, S. Zinadini, G. Moradi, Removal of dye and heavy metal ion using a novel synthetic polyethersulfone nanofiltration membrane modified by magnetic graphene oxide/metformin hybrid, J. Mem. Sci. 552 (2018) 326-335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2018.02.018
- [115] Y. Zhan, X. Wan, S. He, Y. Qiangbin, Y. He, Design of durable and efficient poly(arylene ether nitrile)/bioinspired polydopamine coated graphene oxide nanofibrous composite membrane for anionic dyes separation, Chem. Eng. J. 333 (2018) 132-145. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2017.09.147

- [116] J. Zhang, Y. Ge, Z. Li, Y. Wang, Facile fabrication of a low-cost and environmentally friendly inorganic-organic composite membrane for aquatic dye removal, J. Environ. Manage. 256 (2020) 109969. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.109969
- [117] H.-C. Chiu, C.-H. Liu, S.-C. Chen, S.-Y. Suen, Adsorptive removal of anionic dye by inorganic-organic hybrid anion-exchange membranes, J. Membr. Sci. 337 (2009) 282–290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2009.04.004
- [118] T. Tavangar, M. Karimi, M. Rezakazemi, K.R. Reddy, T.M. Aminabhavi, Textile waste, dyes/inorganic salts separation of cerium oxide-loaded loose nanofiltration polyethersulfone membranes, Chem. Eng. J. 385 (2020) 123787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.123787
- [119] N. Ma, X. Quan, Y. Zhang, S. Chen, H. Zhao, Integration of separation and photocatalysis using an inorganic membrane modified with Si-doped TiO2 for water purification, J. Membr. Sci. 335 (2009) 58-67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2009.02.040
- [120] L.A. Shah, T. Malik, M. Siddiq, A. Haleem, M. Sayed, TiO2 nanotubes doped poly(vinylidene fluoride) polymer membranes (PVDF/TNT) for efficient photocatalytic degradation of brilliant green dye, J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 7 (2019) 103291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2019.103291
- [121] Y. Zhu, F. Qiu, J. Rong, T. Zhang, K. Mao, D. Yang, Covalent laccase immobilization on the surface of poly(vinylidene fluoride) polymer membrane for enhanced biocatalytic removal of dyes pollutants from aqueous environment, Colloids Surf. B. 191 (2020) 111025. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2020.111025
- [122] V. Vatanpour, S. Khorshidi, Surface modification of polyvinylidene fluoride membranes with ZIF-8 nanoparticles layer using interfacial method for BSA separation and dye removal, Mater. Chem. Phys. 241 (2020) 122400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matchemphys.2019.122400
- [123] K. Kadirvelu, N.N Fathima, Keratin functionalized electrospun PEI/PAN microfiltration system as a simple and sustainable approach for anionic dye removal. J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 10 (2022) 107791. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2022.107791
- [124] P.S. Kumar, K. Venkatesh, E.L. Gui, S. Jayaraman, G. Singh, G. Arthanareeswaran, Electrospun carbon nanofibers/TiO2-PAN hybrid membranes for effective removal of metal ions and cationic dye. Environ. Nanotechnol. Monit. Manag. 10 (2018) 366-376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enmm.2018.08.006
- [125] B. Keskin, S.A.N. Mehrabani, S. Arefi-Oskoui, V. Vatanpour, O.O. Teber, A. Khataee, Y. Orooji, I. Koyuncu, Development of Ti2AlN MAX phase/cellulose acetate nanocomposite membrane for removal of dye, protein and lead ions, Carbohydr. Polym. 296 (2022) 119913. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2022.119913
- [126] D.M. Al-Ani, F.H. Al-Ani, Q.F. Alsalhy, S.S. Ibrahim, Preparation and characterization of ultrafiltration membranes from PPSU-PES polymer blend for dye removal, Chem. Eng. Commun. (2019) 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1080/00986445.2019.1683546.
- [127] Q.F. Alsalhy, K.T. Rashid, S.S. Ibrahim, A.H. Ghanim, B.V. Bruggen, P. Luis, M. Zablouk, Poly(vinylidene fluoride-co-hexafluoropropylene) (PVDF-co-HFP) hollow fiber membranes prepared from PVDF-co-HFP/PEG-600Mw/DMAC solution for membrane distillation, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 129 (2013)3304-3313. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.39065.
- [128] M.J. Jamed, A.A. AlAnezi, Q.F. Alsalhy, Effects of embedding functionalized multi-walled carbon nanotubes and alumina on the direct contact poly(vinylidene fluoride-co-hexafluoropropylene) membrane distillation performance, Chem. Eng. Commun. 206 (2018) 1035-1057. https://doi.org/10.1080/00986445.2018.1542302.
- [129] M.M. Aljumaily, M.A.A.M.M. Aljumaily, M.A. Alsaadi, N.A. Hashim, Q.F. Alsalhy, R. Das, F.S. Mjalli, Embedded high-hydrophobic CNMs prepared by CVD technique with PVDF-co-HFP membrane for application in water desalination by DCMD, Desalin. Water Treat. 142 (2019) 37-48. 10.5004/dwt.2019.23431.
- [130] S.S. Hussein, S.S. Ibrahim, M.A. Toma, Q.F. Alsalhy, E. Drioli, Novel chemical modification of polyvinyl chloride membrane by free radical graft copolymerization for direct contact membrane distillation (DCMD) application, J. Membr. Sci. 611 (2020) 118266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2020.118266.
- [131] J. Stejskal, Interaction of conducting polymers, polyaniline, and polypyrrole, with organic dyes: Polymer morphology control, dye adsorption and photocatalytic decomposition, Chem. Pap. 74 (2020) 1-54. 10.1007/s11696-019-00982-9.
- [132] A. Bekhoukh, I. Moulefera, F.Z. Zeggai, A. Benyoucef, K. Bachari, Anionic methyl orange removal from aqueous solutions by activated carbon reinforced conducting polyaniline as adsorbent: Synthesis, characterization, adsorption behavior, regeneration and kinetics study, J. Polym. Environ. 30 (2021) 886-895. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10924-021-02248-6.

- [133] J. Stejskal, Recent advances in the removal of organic dyes from aqueous media with conducting polymers, polyaniline and polypyrrole, and their composites, Polym. 14 (2022) 4243.https://doi.org/10.3390/polym14194243.
- [134] N. Mohammad, Y. Atassi, Adsorption of methylene blue onto electrospun nanofibrous membranes of polylactic acid and polyacrylonitrile coated with chloride doped polyaniline, Sci. Rep. 10 (2020) 13412. 10.1038/s41598-020-69825-y.
- [135] A. Torabinejad, N. Nasirizadeh, M.E. Yazdanshenas, H.-A. Tayebi, Synthesis of conductive polymer-coated mesoporous MCM-41 for textile dye removal from aqueous media, J. Nanostruct. Chem. 7 (2017) 217-229. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40097-017-0232-7
- [136] Y. Cai, Z. Wang, C.H. Yi, Y.H. Bai, Z.X. Wang, S.C. Wang, Gas transport property of polyallylamine-poly (vinyl alcohol)/polysulfone composite membranes, J. Membr. Sci. 2 (2008) 184-196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2007.10.052.
- [137] O. Agboola, O.S.I. Fayomi, R. Sadiku, P. Popoola, P. Alaba, T.A. Adegbola, Polymers blends for the improvement of nanofiltration membranes in wastewater treatment: A short review, Mater. Today Proc. 43 (2021) 3365-3368. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matpr.2020.05.387.
- [138] J.A. de sales, P.S.O. Patricio, J.C. Machado, G.G. Silver, D. Windmöller, Systematic investigation of the effects of temperature and pressure on gas transport through polyurethane/poly(methyl methacrylate) phaseseparated blends, J. Membr. Sci. 310 (2008) 129-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2007.10.045.
- [139] Y. Mansourpanah, S.S. Madaeni, M. Adeli, A. Rahimpour, A. Farhadian, Surface modification and preparation of nanofiltration membrane from polyethersulfone/polyimide blend-use of a new material (Polyethylenegycol-Triazine), J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 112 (2009) 2888-2895. 10.1002/app.29821.
- [140] M.M. Vuksanović, R.J. Heinemann, Micro and nanoscale morphology characterization of compatibilized polymer blends by microscopy. In: Adjitha AR, Thomas S (Eds) Compatibilization of polymer blends, Elsevier (2020) 299-330. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816006-0.00010-4.
- [141] X. Yi, Z. Peng, B. Xu, D. Seyitliyev, C.H.Y. Ho, E.O. Danilov, T. Kim, J.R. Reynolds, A. Amassian, K. Gundogdu, H. Ade, F. So, Critical role of polymer aggregation and miscibility in nonfullerene-based organic photovoltaics. Adv. Energy Mater. 10 (2020) 1-12. 10.1002/aenm.201902430.
- [142] M.A. Velazco-Medel, L.A. Camacho, C. Lugo, E. Bucio, Cross-linked polymer-based adsorbents and membranes for dye removal, In: Muttu SS, Khadir A (Eds) Membrane-based methods for dye containing wastewater. Sustainable Textile: Production, Processing, manufacturing and chemistry, Springer (2021) 263-289. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-4823-6\_10.
- [143] G. Üzüm, B.A. Özmen, E.T. Akgül, E. Yavuz, Emulsion-templated porous polymers for efficient dye removal, ACS Omega 7 (2022) 16127-16140 https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.2c01472.
- [144] Y. Xu, Z. Li, K. Su, T. Fan, L. Cao, Mussel-inspired modification of PPS membrane to separate and remove the dyes from the wastewater, Chem. Eng. J. 341 (2018) 371-382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.02.048.
- [145] H. Shao, Y. Qi, S. Liang, S. Qin, J. Yu, Polypropylene composite hollow fiber ultrafiltration membranes with an acrylic hydrogel surface by in situ ultrasonic wave-assisted polymerization for dye removal, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 136 (2019) 47099. 10.1002/app.47099.
- [146] S.R. Niazi, Effective removal of dyes by synthesized and characterized by anthracene hypercross linked polymer, Chem. Sci. J. 12 (2021) 1-12. 10.3390/molecules27227775.
- [147] Z.L. Qui, X. Kong, J.J. Yuan, Y.-J. Shen, B.-K. Zhu, L.-P. Zhu, Z.-K. Yao, C.Y. Tang, Cross-linked PVC/hyperbranched polyester composite hollow fiber membranes for dye removal, React. Funct. Polym. 122 (2018) 51-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reactfunctpolym.2017.10.012.
- [148]X. Lu, H. Wang, J. Chen, L. Yang, T. Hu, F. Wu, J. Fu, Z. Chen, Negatively charged hollow cross-linked aromatic polymer fiber membrane for high-efficiency removal of cationic dyes in wastewater, Chem. Eng. J. 433 (2022) 133650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2021.133650.
- [149] A.G. Mamalis, Recent advances in nanotechnology. J Mater Process Technol. 181(1-3) (2007) 52-58. 10.1016/j.jmatprotec.2006.03.052
- [150] C. Osagie, A. Othmani, S. Ghosh, A. Malloum, Z.K. Esfahani, S. Ahmadi, Dyes adsorption from aqueous media through the nanotechnology: A review, J. Mat. Res. Technol. 14 (2021) 2195- 2218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmrt.2021.07.085.
- [151]L.E. Macevele, K.L.M. Moganedi, T. Magadzu, Adsorption of cadmium (II) ions from aqueous solutions using poly(Amidoamine)/ multi-walled carbon nanotubes doped poly(Vinylidene Fluoride-Co-Hexafluoropropene) Composite Membrane, J. Membr. Sci. Res. 7 (2021) 152-165. https://doi.org/10.22079/JMSR.2020.121858.1351.

- [152] National Institute of Environmental Health Science, (NIEHS) (2023) https://www.niehs.nih.gov/health/topics/agents/syanano/index.cfm#:~:text=Nano%2Dsized%20particles%20exist%20in,less %20than%20approximately%20100%20nanometers. [Retrived 17th March 2023]
- [153] K. Hristovski, A. Baumgardener, P. Westerhoff, Selecting metal oxide nanomaterials for arsenic removal in fixed bed columns: from nanoparticles to aggregated nanoparticles media, J. Hazard. Mater. 147 (2007) 265-274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.01.017.
- [154] O.A. Koriem, A.M. Kamel, W. Shaaban, M.F. Elkady, Enhancement of dye separation performance of eco-friendly cellulose acetate-based membranes, Sustain. 14 (2022) 1-13. https://doi.org/10.3390/su142214665.
- [155] J. Rana, G. Goindi, N. Kaur, Potential of cellulose acetate for the removal of methylene blue dye from aqueous streams, Int. J. Innov. Technol. Explor. Eng. 8 (2019) 1379-1382. 10.35940/ijitee.I8628.0881019.
- [156] W. Chen, H. Ma, B. Xing, Electrospinning of multifunctional cellulose acetate membrane and its adsorption properties for ionic dyes, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 158 (2020) 1342-1351. 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.04.249.
- [157] M.A. Abu-Dalo, S.A. Al-Rosan, B.A. Albiss, Photocatalytic degradation of methylene blue using polymeric membranes based on cellulose acetate impregnated with ZnO nanostructures, Polym. 13 (2021) 1-16. https://doi.org/10.3390/polym13193451.
- [158] Q. Wang, Z. Yu, Y. Liu, X. Zhu, R. Long, X. Li, Co-intercalation of TiO2 and LDH to reduce graphene oxide photocatalytic composite membrane for purification of dye wastewater. Appl. Clay Sci. 216 (2022) 106359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clay.2021.106359
- [159] J. Zaidi, K.A. Mauritz, M.K. Hassan, Membrane surface modification and functionalization. In: Mazumder MBJ, Sheardown H, Al-Ahmed A (Eds) Polymer and polymeric composites: Functional polymers, Springer (2019) 391-416. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-95987-0\_11.
- [160] L. Upadhyaya, X. Qian, X.R. Wickramasinghe, Chemical modification of membrane surface-overview, Curr. Opin. Chem. Eng. 20 (2018) 13-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coche.2018.01.002.
- [161] N. Salim, A. Siddiqa, S. Shahida, S. Qaisar, PVDF based nanocomposite membranes: Application towards wastewater treatment, Madridge J. Nanotechnol. Nanosci. 4 (2019) 139-147. 10.18689/mjnn-1000128.
- [162] V.K. Thakur, D. Vennerberg, M.R. Kessler, Green aqueous surface modification of polypropylene for novel polymer nanocomposites, ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 6(12) (2014) 9349-9356. https://doi.org/10.1021/am501726d.
- [163] A.N.M.A. Haque, S. Mohamad, Y. Alias, Y. Jin, A. Ahmad, Sustainable adsorbents from plant-derived agricultural wastes for anionic dye removal: A review, Sustain. 14 (2022) 1-25. https://doi.org/10.3390/su141711098.
- [164] S. Nagandran, P.S. Goh, A.F. Ismail, T.-W. Wong, W.R.Z.B.W. Dang, The recent progress in modification of polymeric membranes using organic macromolecules for water treatment, Symmetry 12 (2020) 1-38. 10.3390/sym12020239.
- [165] J. Ayyavoo, T.P.N. Nguyen, B.M. Jun, I.C. Kim, Y.N. Kwon, Protection of polymeric membranes with antifouling surfacing via surface modifications, Colloids Surf. A: Physicochem. Eng. Asp. 506 (2016) 190-201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfa.2016.06.026.
- [166] G. Zhang, Y. Li, A. Gao, Q. Zhang, J. Cui, S. Zhao, X. Zhan, Y. Yan, Bio-inspired underwater superoleophobic PVDF membranes for highly efficient simultaneous removal of insoluble emulsified oils and soluble anionic dyes, Chem. Eng. J. 369 (2019a) 576-587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.03.089.
- [167] C. Zhao, Y. Ye, X. Chen, X. Da, M. Qui, Y. Fan Y, Charged modified tight ceramic ultrafiltration membranes for treatment of cationic dye wastewater, Chinese J. Chem. Eng. 41 (2022) 267-277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjche.2021.11.007.
- [168] Y. Elvan, Z. Yalinca, K. Yahya, U. Sirotina, pH-responsive graft copolymers of chitosan,
- Int. J. Bio. Macromol. 90 (2015) 68-74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2015.10.003.
- [169] P. Purohit, A. Bhatt, R.K. Mittal, M.H. Abdellattif, T.A. Farghaly, Polymer Grafting and its chemical reactions, Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 10 (2023) 1-22. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2022.1044927.
- [170] Q. Zhou, X.-P. Lei, J.-H. Li, B.-F. Yan, Q.-Q. Zhang, Antifouling, adsorption and reversible flux properties of zwitterionic grafted PVDF membrane prepared via physisorbed free radical polymerization, Desalin. 337 (2014) 6-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2014.01.006.
- [171] S. Liu, Z. Wang, P. Song, Free radical graft copolymerization strategy to prepare catechin-modified chitosan loose nanofiltration (NF) membrane for dye desalination, ACS Sustainable Chem. Eng. 6 (2018) 4253-4263. https://doi.org/10.1021/acssuschemeng.7b04699.

- [172] L. Chen, B. Yang, P. Zhou, T. Xu, C. He, Y. Xu, W. Zhao, C. Zhao, A Polyethersulfone composite ultrafiltration membrane with the in-situ generation of CdS nanoparticles for the effective removal of organic pollutants and photocatalytic self-cleaning, J. Membr. Sci. 638 (2021) 119715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2021.119715.
- [173] K. Kuar, R. Jindal, D. Saini, Synthesis, optimization and characterization of PVA-co-poly(methacrylic acid) green adsorbents and applications in environmental remediation, Polym. Bulletin 77 (2020) 3079-3100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00289-019-02900-1.
- [174] N. Alsawaftah, W. Abuwatfa, N. Darwish, G. Husseini, A comprehensive review on membrane fouling: Mathematical modelling, prediction, diagnosis, and mitigation. Water 13 (2021) 1-37. https://doi.org/10.3390/w13091327.
- [175] D. Ankoliya, B. Mehta, H. Raval, Advances in surface modification techniques of reverse osmosis membrane over the years, Sep. Sci. Technol. 54 (2019) 293-310. https://doi.org/10.1080/01496395.2018.1483404.
- [176] J. Farahbakhsh, V. Vatanpour, M. Khoshnam, M. Zargar, Recent advancements in the application of new monomers and membrane modification techniques for the fabrication of thin film composite membranes: A review, React. Funct. Polym. 166 (2021) 105015 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reactfunctpolym.2021.105015.
- [177] Y. Qin, H. Yang, Z. Xu, F. Li, Surface modification of polyacrylonitrile membrane by chemical reaction and physical coating: Comparison between static and pore flowing procedures, ACS Omega 3 (2018) 4231-4241. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.7b02094.
- [178] T.A. Otitoju, A.L. Ahmed, B.S. Ooi, Recent advances in hydrophilic modification and performance of polyethersulfone (PES) membrane via additive blending, RSC Adv. 8 (2018) 22710. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8RA03296C.
- [179] S. Nazari, A. Abdelrasoul, Impact of membrane modification and surface immobilization techniques on the hemocompatibility of hemodialysis membranes: A Critical Review, Membr. 12 (2022) 1063. https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes12111063.
- [180] Z.Y. Xi, Y.Y. Xu, L.P. Zhu, Y. Wang, B. KZhu, A facile method of surface modification for hydrophobic polymer membranes based on the adhesive behavior of poly(DOPA) and poly(dopamine), J. Memb. Sci. 327 (2009) 244-253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2008.11.037.
- [181] H. Li, W. Shi, S. Huang, H. Zhang, R. Zhou, X. Qin, Removal of high concentration Congo red by hydrophobic PVDF hollow fiber composite membrane coated with a loose and porous ZIF-71PVDF layer through vacuum membrane distillation, J. Ind. Text. 51 (2022) 7641S-7673S. https://doi.org/10.1177/1528083720967075.
- [182] S.P. Mishra, Insights into the recent use of modified adsorbents in removing heavy metal ions from aqueous solution, Biointerface Res. Appl. Chem. 12 (2022) 1884-1898. https://doi.org/10.33263/BRIAC122.18841898
- [183] Xue J, Shen J, Zhang R, Wang F, Liang S, You X, Yu Q, Hao Y, Su Y, Jiang Z (2020) High-flux nanofiltration membranes prepared with βcyclodextrin and graphene quantum dots. J Membr Sci. 612:118465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2020.118465.
- [184] J. Rezania, V. Vatanpour, A. Shockravi, M Ehsani, Preparation of novel carboxylated thin-film composite polyamide-polyester nanofiltration membranes with enhanced antifouling property and water flux, React. Funct. Polym. 131 (2018) 123-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reactfunctpolym.2018.07.012.
- [185] L. Xia, B. Vemuri, S. Saptoka, N. Shrestha, G. Chilkoor, J. KilDuff, V. Gadhamshetty, Antifouling membranes for bioelectrochemistry applications. In: S.V. Mohan, S. Varjani, A. Pandey (Eds) Microbial electrochemical technology: Sustainable platform for fuel, chemical, and remediation, Elsevier (2019) 195-224. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64052-9.00008-X.
- [186] S.A. Kumar, N.M. Johanna, V.B. Jenefer, G. Srinivasan, G. Kanimozhi, G. Yuvarani, G. Ridhamsha, K. Prabu, S. Govindaradjane, S. Jayaraman, Influence of monomers involved in the fabrication of a novel PES based nanofiltration thin-film composite membrane and its performance in the treatment of common effluent (CETP) textile industrial wastewater, J. Environ. Health Sci. Eng. 19 (2021) 515-529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40201-021-00621-00624-x.
- [187] S. Chen, Y. Du, X. Zhang, Y. Xie, Z. Shi, H. Ji, W. Zhao, C. Zhao, Onestep electrospinning of negatively-charged polyethersulfone nanofibrous membranes for selective removal of cationic dyes, J. Taiwan Inst. Chem. Eng. 82 (2018) 179-188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtice.2017.11.018.
- [188]Z. Zhang, G. Kang, H. Yu, Y. Jin, Y. Cao, Fabrication of a highly permeable composite nanofiltration membrane via interfacial polymerization by adding a novel acyl chloride monomer with an

anhydride group, J. Membr. Sci. 570-571 (2019b) 403-409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2018.10.061.

- [189] X.-R. Wang, Z. Meng, X.-F. Wang, W.-L. Cai, K. Liu, D. Wang, Silk Nanofibril-palygorskite composite membranes for efficient removal of anionic dyes, Nanomaterials 13 (2023) 247. https://doi.org/10.3390/nano13020247
- [190] F. Zhang, Y. Zhang, P. He, H. Chen, J. Gao, J. Liang, Multifunctional granulated blast furnace slag-based inorganic membrane for highly efficient separation of oil and dye from wastewater, Process Saf. Environ. Prot. 170 (2023) 380-391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2022.12.015
- [191] A.A.E.A. Elfky, M.F. Mubarak, M. Keshawy, I.E.T El Sayed, T.A. Moghny, Novel nanofiltration membrane modified by metal oxide nanocomposite for dyes removal from wastewater, Environ. Dev. Sustain. (2023) 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-023-03444-1
- [192] A.E. Abdelhamid, A.E. Elsayed, M. Naguib, E.A. Ali, Effective dye removal by acrylic-based membrane constructed from textile fibers waste, Fibers, and Polymers 23 (2023) 2391-2399 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12221-023-00247-z
- [193] I.A. Eti, M. Khatun, M.A. Khatun, M.O. Rahman, K.M. Anis-Ul-Haque, M.J. Alam, Removal of dye from wastewater using a novel composite film incorporating nanocellulose, Adv. Polym. Technol. 4431941 (2023) 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2023/4431941
- [194] F. Pan, J. Raza, M. Khan, A.H. Ragab, T. Lei, M.S. Rafique, A. Zada, I. Khan, Preparation and structural investigations of the composite containing lead oxide and graphite as reinforcements and its adsorptive and photocatalytic dye-degradation activity, Diam. Relat. Mater. 137 (2023) 110170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diamond.2023.110170
- [195] H. Penchev, A.E. Abdelhamid, E.A. Ali, D. Budurova, G. Grancharov, F. Ublekov, N. Koseva, K. ZaharieVa, A.A. El-Sayed, A.M. Khalil, Novel electrospun composite membranes based on polyhydroxybutyrate and poly(vinyl formate) loaded with protonated montmorillonite for organic dye removal: Kinetic and isotherm studies, Membr. 13(6) (2023) 582; https://doi.org/10.3390/membranes13060582
- [196] A. Mokeddem, S. Benykhlef, A.A. Bendaoudi, N. Boudouaia, H. Mahmoudi, Z. Bengharez, S.D. Topel, Ö. Topel, Sodium alginate-based composite films for effective removal of congo red and coralene dark red 2B dyes: Kinetic, isotherm and thermodynamic analysis, Water 15 (2023) 1709. https://doi.org/10.3390/w15091709
- [197] A. López Amador, A. F. Martínez Ávila, Z.P. Aranda Barrera, M.A. González Reyna, R. Castellanos Espinoza, B.L. España Sánchez, synthesis of graphene oxide and their incorporation in nanostructured polyethersulfone membranes: Study of antibacterial and dyes adsorption properties, Polym. Compos. 44(7) (2023) 4309-4323. https://doi.org/10.1002/pc.27411
- [198] C.A.M. Siken, Applications of ceramic membranes in liquid filtration (1996) 619-639 Elsevier Publisher, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0927-5193(96)80016-7
- [199] A. Samadi, L. Gao, L. Kong, Y. Orooji, S Zhao, Waste-derived low-cost ceramic membranes for water treatment: Opportunities, challenges, and future directions, Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 185 (2022) 1-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106497